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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We're just

          3  waiting for copies to be made. I know we're a little

          4  tight in here, unfortunately there are committee

          5  meetings everywhere so the Chamber nor the Committee

          6  Room was available. So, we'll just have to sit close

          7  and get to know each other.

          8                 I'm Helen Foster, Chair of the Parks

          9  Committee. This morning we are going to hear from

         10  the Commissioner on the concessions and the

         11  concession process.

         12                 This meeting in this hearing has been

         13  a long time coming, and we have been working on it

         14  on our end to, number one, make sure we could have

         15  it, and then make sure that the necessary questions

         16  and answers that we need are addressed. And I am

         17  hoping that this is going to be the first of a

         18  series of meetings because I don't believe that

         19  we're going to be able to cover everything that

         20  needs to be covered in terms of concessions, and

         21  questions and concerns in this one meeting.

         22                 As I said to you before, we have a

         23  ton of meetings today, and we have to be out of this

         24  room at 1:00 because there is a meeting scheduled at

         25  1:00.
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          2                 So, again, this will be a series of

          3  meetings, I'm hoping. And what I'm very interested

          4  in understanding, as we go through this process is

          5  to find out what role the community plays in the

          6  concession process and making sure that the needs of

          7  the community, as well as the concerns or the needs

          8  of the Parks Department are met and hopefully we

          9  have concessionaires and we're all on one accord.

         10                 I know that there are a lot of

         11  concessions that people have concerns about, and we

         12  have different Council Members who will be joining

         13  us to ask questions about some of those concessions.

         14                 We've been joined by Council Member

         15  Helen Sears from Queens. She is the newest member to

         16  the Parks Committee. So, welcome.

         17                 Council Member Joe Addabbo, who is on

         18  this Committee, will not be here because he is

         19  chairing his own committee meeting at this time. And

         20  our other two members are on other committees, so

         21  they'll be coming in and out.

         22                 That having been said, let me welcome

         23  Commissioner Benepe, and ask him to introduce

         24  himself, as well as the other guests sitting at the

         25  table with him.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, thank you

          3  very much, Council Member Foster, and Chair of the

          4  Committee. And welcome, Council Member Helen Sears,

          5  a big parks supporter from Queens.

          6                 I am Adrian Benepe. I'm the

          7  Commissioner of the Department of Parks and

          8  Recreation, and I'm here on behalf of Mayor

          9  Bloomberg and First Deputy Mayor Patty Harris, to

         10  thank you for allowing us to testify on this

         11  extremely important topic.

         12                 Joining me at the table today, to my

         13  left is Marla Simpson, the Procurement Officer of

         14  the Mayor's Office of Contract Services. And on my

         15  right is Betsy Smith, who is Assistant Commissioner

         16  for Marketing and Revenue.

         17                 We have got some images that will go

         18  along with part of what I'm talking about to liven

         19  up what would otherwise be, I'm afraid, a very dry

         20  presentation.

         21                 So, if you'll indulge me just a

         22  little bit, I know, that you asked us to talk

         23  primarily about the process, which we will do, and

         24  just a little bit on the history of concessions,

         25  just to sort of set the context, so for almost 140
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          2  years, really since 1870, Parks patrons have not

          3  only enjoyed the open space of New York City's

          4  parks, but they have also enjoyed the amenities that

          5  concessions provide in parks.

          6                 Concessions evolve to serve the

          7  interests of park visitors, who often want and need

          8  refreshment and organized activities in parks.

          9  Concessions further enhance the patrons' use of the

         10  parks and the essential mission of the agency.

         11                 So, the question is often asked, what

         12  is a park concession? It is defined generally as a

         13  publicly licensed commercial activity at a clearly

         14  defined location for a specific limited period of

         15  time.

         16                 We have a great picture over here. A

         17  guy looks unhappy about his hotdog or something.

         18                 Yet, the term concession encompasses

         19  a remarkably broad range of businesses, mostly food

         20  and recreation, from the standard hotdog cart, to

         21  the famous tavern on the green, which is one of the

         22  top grossing restaurants in the country, an

         23  important goal of the agency is to manage the

         24  balance between augmenting park use, and preserving

         25  peaceful enjoyment of the City's green spaces.
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          2                 The income from concessions provides

          3  a steady and increasing revenue stream to the City's

          4  general fund to pay for basic services.

          5                 It has risen from almost negligible

          6  amounts in the late 1970s to $39 million in 2007,

          7  and more if you add lease revenue.

          8                 Early successful ventures include the

          9  spectacular Mineral Springs Pavilion in Central

         10  Park, where visitors engage in the hottest new trend

         11  of consuming sparkling water, this is back in the

         12  1870s. They also include the Camera Obscura

         13  photographic house in Prospect Park and Coney Island

         14  amusement rides. The boating operations in Central

         15  Park expanded so rapidly that by 1870 nearly 40

         16  boats accommodated several hundred thousand rowers

         17  each year. Prominent facilities, such as a Ladies

         18  Refreshment Pavilion and Prospect Park Boathouse

         19  exemplified the finest architecture of their eras.

         20                 During the administration of Parks

         21  Commissioner Robert Moses, that was between 1934 and

         22  1960, concessions were expanded and restructured. A

         23  licensing policy replaced leasing agreements,

         24  dictating that "The parks should be operated for

         25  public pleasure and recreation, and not for
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          2  commercial exploitation or the relief of

          3  individuals."

          4                 The concessionaires themselves are as

          5  diverse as the concessions. From major corporations

          6  to solitary entrepreneurs, they bring to parks

          7  enormous dedication and creativity.

          8                 Thousands of jobs are created from

          9  our concessions, which include the people who are

         10  directly employed by each concession, ranging from

         11  the Zamboni driver at our ice skating rinks to the

         12  team of waiters at Tavern on the Green, to jobs

         13  created by the economic ripple effect from goods and

         14  services from each concession.

         15                 Concessions also provide budding

         16  businessmen and businesswomen with a way to gain a

         17  foothold in the local economy and chase a piece of

         18  the American dream.

         19                 The Committee has specifically asked

         20  that we concentrate on process, so I hope you don't

         21  mind if the rest is a bit dry.

         22                 The concessions process itself is

         23  governed by the City Charter, the Administrative

         24  Code and the rules of the City of New York.

         25                 Within the Parks Department, the
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          2  process is overseen by a Revenue Division. They are

          3  responsible for all businesses that operate on City

          4  parkland. The Revenue Division prepares and issues

          5  solicitations for concessions and awards and manages

          6  the permits and agreements between parks and private

          7  concessionaires.

          8                 Along with food service in parks,

          9  concessions offer park users a wide range of

         10  recreational activities, such as golf, tennis,

         11  boating at marinas, horseriding at stables,

         12  rowboating and bicycle rentals, iceskating rinks and

         13  amusements, such as the Cyclone Rollercoaster in

         14  Coney Island and the Nellie Bly amusement park in

         15  Brooklyn.

         16                 The City's Franchise Concession

         17  Review Committee is the organization with which we

         18  work closely on the solicitation and awarding of our

         19  larger concessions. The rules of the FCRC are laid

         20  out in Title 12 of the Rules of the City of New York

         21  and govern the concessions award process for all

         22  City agencies that award contracts, not just for

         23  Parks. One of the most important aspects of all

         24  these rules is the public review process, which will

         25  be further outlined later in my testimony.
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          2                 In terms of the concessionaire

          3  selection procedure, parklands cannot be alienated,

          4  which means that it must be used for a parks

          5  purpose, and a property interest cannot be

          6  transferred, that is, no leases can be issued

          7  without legislation.

          8                 For that reason, our concessions

          9  operate pursuant to license agreements, and permits

         10  which have a finite term.

         11                 All of these agreements are

         12  terminable at the will of the Commissioner.

         13                 Ideas for a parks concession come

         14  largely from the public in the form of

         15  entrepreneurs, local businesses and parks

         16  organizations.

         17                 One example of a new idea we've

         18  recently received is a gourmet organic hotdog cart

         19  at the Bleeker Playground in Manhattan.

         20                 The idea was generated by a

         21  restaurant called "Employees Only," a worker-owned

         22  restaurant in the village. They had the idea to

         23  cater to children and parents in a park near the

         24  restaurant. We thought it would be a good idea and a

         25  nice service for the people in that area. A request
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          2  for bids was drafted and they won the competitive

          3  process.

          4                 Though this is just one example,

          5  these kinds of ideas spring up all over the City.

          6                 In the case of existing concessions,

          7  once a contract's term expires, and the Parks

          8  Department wants to see a continuity in the service,

          9  the Revenue Division will issue a solicitation,

         10  either in the form of a Request for a Proposal or

         11  Request for Bids. And you're going to hear these two

         12  expressions frequently.

         13                 When we've established a concession

         14  is an appropriate use of parkland, appropriate for

         15  that site, we start the solicitation process, which

         16  is the issuing of a Request for Proposals, or RFP,

         17  or Request for Bids, or RFB.

         18                 In a Request for Bids, the award goes

         19  to the highest responsive and responsible bidder. In

         20  other words, the most important aspect of that kind

         21  of concession is the revenue that will be generated

         22  by the concession. This process is used primarily

         23  with concessions like the small, mostly portable

         24  hotdog vendor you see in the parks, which, in fact,

         25  constitute a large chunk of our overall number of
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          2  concessions.

          3                 Alternately, the Request for

          4  Proposals, or RFP, is issued for a concession when

          5  Parks determines that specifications cannot be based

          6  on revenue to the City alone, or a judgment is

          7  required in evaluating competing proposals.

          8                 In these cases, it is in the best

          9  interest of the City to require a balancing of

         10  revenue to the City and other factors, such as the

         11  proposed capital work, planned operations, financial

         12  capability, and operating experience.

         13                 For example, if we need to contract

         14  someone to run a City-owned golf course, it's often

         15  better to have someone who has strong experience

         16  doing this, rather than just simply looking at who

         17  the highest bidder is.

         18                 For the purposes of the FCRC,

         19  concessions are basically divided into three

         20  categories. The first is, Not Significant. This

         21  means the contract has a term that is less than ten

         22  years, and the fee to the City is less than $100,000

         23  for every year of the contract.

         24                 The second category is Significant.

         25  This means the contract has a term that is equal to
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          2  or greater than ten years, and/or the fee to the

          3  City is more than $100,000 in any year of the

          4  contract.

          5                 The maximum term for a concession

          6  agreement is 20 years, unless Parks receives

          7  unanimous approval from the FCRC.

          8                 If a concession is significant, it is

          9  then subject to a public hearing and the FCRC

         10  review. The last categories of so-called major

         11  concession. This means an idea trips one or more of

         12  the major concessions reviews of the City Planning

         13  Commission and is therefore subject to Uniform Land

         14  Use Review Procedure, or ULURP.

         15                 Once an idea is improved and

         16  categorized, we move forward with our process. Each

         17  affected community board and Borough President is

         18  notified in writing that we are releasing a Request

         19  for Bids or a Request for Proposals.

         20                 If the concession falls into the

         21  significant category, we must consult for the

         22  affected community board and Borough President on

         23  developing a scope of the RFB or RFP, at least 30

         24  days prior to issuing the solicitation.

         25                 Then the Revenue Division must
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          2  complete a so-called concession agreement,

          3  presolicitation agreement review memorandum and

          4  narrative.

          5                 I hope you're following that, Council

          6  Member James. There will be a quiz when this is

          7  over. I know Council Member Garodnick knows about

          8  that form.

          9                 The forms must be submitted to the

         10  Mayor's Office of Contract Services, known as MOCS.

         11  Solicitation cannot be released until these forms

         12  have been signed by the City's Chief Procurement

         13  Officer, who is sitting beside me, the Director of

         14  MOCS. The draft solicitation and accompanying

         15  documents are sent to MOCS and the New York City Law

         16  Department for review and Parks revises the RFB or

         17  RFP in accordance with the agency's comments or

         18  suggestions.

         19                 If the solicitation is a Request for

         20  Bids, a standardized non-negotiable agreement is

         21  drafted for the concession by Parks and sent with a

         22  Request for Bids to the Law Department for approval.

         23  If no further changes are made or are necessary,

         24  MOCS will sign off on the concession agreement,

         25  presolicitation agreement review form, and the final
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          2  solicitation can be released.

          3                 Then the notice of solicitation,

          4  which informs potential proposers where and how they

          5  can obtain a copy of the solicitation, is sent to

          6  all of the entities on the appropriate agency

          7  mailing list.

          8                 Notice is also sent to the affected

          9  community board and Borough Presidents.

         10                 The final RFP or RFB is posted on the

         11  Parks Department website and available by mail or by

         12  pick-up from the revenue office.

         13                 In addition to that, an advertisement

         14  of the solicitation is run in the City Record for

         15  ten consecutive issues. For Request for Proposal, 20

         16  business days must be provided between the last date

         17  the ad runs in the City Record and the due date of

         18  proposals.

         19                 For Request for Bid, ten business

         20  days must be provided between the last day the ad

         21  runs in the City Record and the due date of bids.

         22                 The solicitation may also be

         23  advertised in appropriate newspapers, local,

         24  Citywide, nationwide and trade publications. In

         25  addition, a site tour and/or proposer meeting may be
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          2  arranged to give proposers access to the property or

          3  to answer their questions.

          4                 Now, if the solicitation was a

          5  Request for Bids, a public bid opening is held on a

          6  bid due date, and the winner is the highest bidder

          7  who is determined to be both responsive and

          8  responsible. That is, they meet our specific

          9  requirements in the solicitation.

         10                 If a fee offer for all years total is

         11  equal to or greater than $100,000, or if the bidder

         12  has concessions with the City, to pay the City a

         13  total that is equal to or greater than $100,000, or

         14  if the bidder has had City contracts or subcontracts

         15  of that value, the highest bidder must submit

         16  information to the vendor information exchange

         17  system, known as Vendex, which is a computerized

         18  data system that helps the City make decisions

         19  regarding vendor responsibility as required by law.

         20                 Once those filings are received, the

         21  Department of Investigations, also known as DOI,

         22  checks its files to determine if any investigations

         23  have occurred.

         24                 This process is called a vendor name

         25  check. Once DOI has responded, Parks uses the

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  information from Vendex to complete its

          3  determination that the winning bidder is responsible

          4  and then awards the concession.

          5                 However, if the solicitation was a

          6  Request for Proposals, or RFP, a selection committee

          7  is formed to review the proposals received. The

          8  committee must be composed of at least three

          9  members, at least one of whom must neither supervise

         10  nor directly report to any other member of the

         11  selection committee in the normal course of agency

         12  business.

         13                 Typically the committee is composed

         14  of parks employees, but occasionally representatives

         15  of other City agencies or public representatives may

         16  be included.

         17                 The selection committee rates the

         18  proposals based on the established weighted

         19  criteria, which include issues such as the fee

         20  offer, capital improvements that will be made,

         21  operating experience, financial capability and

         22  operational plans.

         23                 The selection committee may either

         24  determine that the award should be made on the basis

         25  of initial proposals, or can decide to solicit the
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          2  so-called best and final offers, or to conduct

          3  discussions or negotiations with the proposers.

          4                 So, after an initial review of the

          5  proposals, assuming that the proposers fall above

          6  the $100,000 range we discussed earlier, the

          7  entities are shortlisted for a final consideration.

          8  They may be asked by Parks to submit Vendex forms to

          9  MOX.

         10                 The top rated proposers can be called

         11  in for discussions, and if necessary, may be asked

         12  to make revisions to their proposals.

         13                 Once revisions are done, the

         14  committee rates again based on the new information,

         15  and once the Vendex filing and DOI vendor name check

         16  processes are completed, the Concession Manager at

         17  Parks uses the information from Vendex to complete

         18  its determination that the winning proposer is

         19  responsible and then proceeds to award the

         20  concession.

         21                 We're getting near the end here, so

         22  bear with me.

         23                 At this time, the Revenue Division

         24  completes the following paperwork. A concession

         25  agreement recommendation for award memorandum cover
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          2  sheet, known as a CRFA cover form, a CRFA CSP,

          3  competitive sealed proposals, or CSB, competitive

          4  sealed bids, narrative form, and a responsibility

          5  determination form.

          6                 If the solicitation was a Request for

          7  Prosposals, our Legal Division, that is the Parks

          8  Department Legal Division begins drafting a

          9  contractor permit. The contract is negotiated

         10  between the Parks Department attorneys and the

         11  successful proposers attorneys. Once the contract is

         12  completely agreed upon, the Parks Council sends it

         13  to the Law Department for its approval and

         14  signature.

         15                 After the contract is approved, the

         16  CRFA paperwork is sent to the Mayor's Office of

         17  Contract Services, and an FCRC public hearing is

         18  scheduled, if the concession is deemed significant.

         19                 In these cases, a notice of the

         20  public hearing must be advertised in the City Record

         21  at least 15 days prior to the date of the public

         22  hearing.

         23                 Parks must notify the affected

         24  community boards and Borough President of the Public

         25  Hearing in writing, and when the Public Hearing
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          2  takes place.

          3                 Once all of those previous steps have

          4  been completed for all concessions, all parties may

          5  sign if Parks has received a security deposit and

          6  Certificate of Insurance that are required.

          7                 Upon signing, the successful proposer

          8  will need to fill out a W9 form and tax affirmation

          9  form. All required forms and paperwork together with

         10  the original signed contract are sent to the

         11  Comptroller for registration. Once the contract has

         12  been registered, Parks publishes a Notice of Award

         13  in the City Record and sends a notice to proceed to

         14  the concessionaire informing them that they may

         15  begin operating.

         16                 When the concessionaire begins

         17  operations, our accountants bill every

         18  concessionaire for the amount that has been

         19  contractually agreed to as part of the winning bid

         20  proposal.

         21                 They also keep track of the

         22  concessionaire's gross receipts. In some cases,

         23  concessions pay the higher of either a flat fee or a

         24  percentage of gross receipts, but in any case, all

         25  concessionaires are required by the contract to
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          2  submit statements and gross receipts. The frequency

          3  of which depends on what is written in a contract.

          4                 So, even if they're only paying us a

          5  flat annual fee, which is what you see in most of

          6  our small contract, they are nonetheless still

          7  required to let us know how much money they have

          8  generated at their concession.

          9                 For example, a pushcart operator pays

         10  us $5,000 per year to operate, but must still submit

         11  a written statement of gross receipts for the year,

         12  which is broken down month-by-month.

         13                 Also, mandatory capital investment of

         14  the site is an important part of our oversight.

         15                 So, if a concessionaire has proposed

         16  capital investment as part of a contract, which they

         17  often do, say at a golf course or a restaurant, we

         18  will regularly inspect the site to make sure they're

         19  fulfilling their promise to the City. And, in fact,

         20  we have an architect who is a formal member of the

         21  concessions or revenue team at the Parks Department

         22  and goes out and performs the inspections.

         23                 So, turning now to the, how does all

         24  of this policy translate into current concession

         25  operations? To give you an overview of what
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          2  concessions are doing for Parks now, I'd like to

          3  discuss some examples and some figures.

          4                 Currently, there are 469 concessions

          5  operating in City-owned parkland. Now, this is a

          6  floating number. It's a number that will change

          7  depending on when contracts are expiring or

          8  beginning. Sometimes concessionaires go out of

          9  business. So, you'll have one number one month and

         10  one number another month, but this is from the end

         11  of FY '07 was 469 concessions.

         12                 As I mentioned before, people hear

         13  about us through a variety of ways. One important

         14  way is through word of mouth. People contact us all

         15  the time to inquire about business opportunities,

         16  and almost from the beginning of the park system

         17  concessions have been seen by City Planners and

         18  government administrators as an important amenity

         19  for the public.

         20                 Concessions have also been one

         21  important aspect of the current renaissance of parks

         22  in our City. Where once parks were places to avoid,

         23  they have now become destinations.

         24                 In financial terms, the revenue and

         25  investment that come through the concessions process
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          2  is a significant source of income for the City, and

          3  I want to reiterate that the money from concessions

          4  does not come to the Parks Department, it goes to

          5  the City's General Fund.

          6                 For example, in the Fiscal Year for

          7  1995, the revenue the City received through

          8  concessions was $17 million, and in Fiscal Year

          9  2007, that number had grown to 39 million. But,

         10  again, that number does not include the lease

         11  revenue.

         12                 Now, clearly, some of that is based

         13  on inflation and increased cost. For example, in

         14  that time, the cost of a slice of pizza probably

         15  went up by $1.00. But also it reflects the fact that

         16  parks are in much better shape, and are seen as safe

         17  investments for entrepreneurs.

         18                 I'm sorry, we had a couple of film

         19  clips to show you, but the sound wasn't working, so

         20  we'll do that another time.

         21                 Now, concessions revenue, as I

         22  mentioned before, goes to the City's general fund.

         23  Many people, perhaps some people in the room today,

         24  feel that concession revenue should go directly to

         25  the Parks Department budget or in some cases
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          2  directly to the Park itself.

          3                 However, the City funds the Parks

          4  Department budgets through the tax levy at an amount

          5  far greater than the amount of revenue that is

          6  brought in from concessions. It's around or well

          7  over ten times what the concessions bring in.

          8                 In addition, if we were forced to

          9  rely more heavily on concessions as a source of

         10  revenue for a budget, to balance a budget, it might

         11  be more difficult to balance the need for more funds

         12  to operate the parks with park uses.

         13                 In a few rare instances, the Parks

         14  Department has entered into contracts with

         15  non-profit organizations that act as an

         16  administrator of a park or that play a significant

         17  role in the management or programming of the park,

         18  and that raise large amounts of private, charitable

         19  donations for basic park operations.

         20                 This allows them to retain some of

         21  the revenue for some concessions in the park. These

         22  arrangements exist with a battery conservancy,

         23  Madison Square Park conservancy, the Prospect Park

         24  Alliance, and about three or four others.

         25                 In 2007, the City as a whole, that is
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          2  all the City agencies, collected nearly $48 million

          3  in concession fees, of which 39 million, or over 80

          4  percent, was collected by Parks concessions.

          5                 Marla Simpson, who is also here to

          6  answer questions today, can put some of these

          7  numbers into perspective, but a few things are

          8  important to note.

          9                 Among them, that 74 percent of all

         10  City concessions are food-related operations. New

         11  Yorkers like to eat, and they like to eat fast. And

         12  87 percent of the City's concessions were procured

         13  through the competitive sealed bid process.

         14                 In terms of the breakdown of

         15  concession revenue, our most substantial concession

         16  revenue, it was from restaurants, which is 18

         17  percent of the total concession revenue, golf

         18  courses which is 14 percent, and pushcarts, which is

         19  11 percent.

         20                 All contracts are required to be

         21  registered with the Comptroller's Office, however,

         22  over the past 30 years, the Parks Department has not

         23  always registered contracts as a matter of course,

         24  and I wanted to thank the Mayor's Office of Contract

         25  Services, because over the last year, with Marla's
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          2  inspired leadership, we have been working diligently

          3  with the Mayor's Office of Contract Services, and

          4  the Law Department to meet this requirement, both

          5  for currently operating and newly awarded

          6  concessions.

          7                 The Mayor's Office of Contract

          8  Services has outlined some new guidelines that will

          9  make it easier for us to ensure that our concessions

         10  can be promptly registered.

         11                 In addition, we look forward to the

         12  opportunity, which is now available under recently

         13  adopted FCRC rules, to notify the public about

         14  potential awards for concessions in our

         15  neighborhoods, and communicate with community boards

         16  through a more comprehensive public review process,

         17  that increases available information transparency.

         18                 I want to just parenthetically here

         19  just thank Joanne Imohese, Assistant Commissioner

         20  Joanne Imohese, who has recently moved over to help

         21  oversee our non-profit partnerships, but we've

         22  recently named Betsy Smith to our leadership team as

         23  Assistant Commissioner for Marketing Revenue. Betsy,

         24  who is to my right, has a long background in

         25  business and finance, including seven years with JP
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          2  Morgan Financial Services, and 15 years in the

          3  private equity business.

          4                 I am confident under Commissioner

          5  Smith's leadership in this area and certain that her

          6  work in conjunction with the Mayor's Office of

          7  Contract Services will make for an efficient and

          8  open process.

          9                 To conclude, concessions are vital to

         10  the life of a park. In many cases, they encourage

         11  investment where the park might otherwise attract

         12  little use. A vendor in a park draws users, and

         13  therefore more public investment in the quality of

         14  the parks and their community.

         15                 It is quite clear that a park filled

         16  with people at all hours of the day is ultimately

         17  safer than a park with very few people.

         18                 In addition, these concessions often

         19  invest in immediate and ongoing capital improvements

         20  to parks, that if left to City time line and budget

         21  alone would be put to the side for other priorities.

         22                 I'll give you a good example. Back in

         23  the 1980s when Gordon Davis was the Parks

         24  Commissioner, the City's 13 municipal golf courses,

         25  then run by the Parks Department, were in poor
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          2  condition. They were a municipal embarrassment. The

          3  City lost $2 million a year operating them.

          4                 Since contracting them out to private

          5  operators, they have received tens of millions of

          6  dollars in private capital investment, 7 million in

          7  the last year alone. They are dramatically improved

          8  and much better run and the City now earns over $6.6

          9  million in income annually from the golf courses.

         10                 Those investments, combined with the

         11  revenue generated by these ventures, allow for

         12  continued upkeep and care.

         13                 The use of concessions to augment the

         14  life of a park is not restricted to New York City

         15  and its park system. Concessions are used in cities

         16  all over the world to help sustain parks. It could

         17  be a park on top of a parking garage, like Chicago's

         18  magnificent Millennium Park; the Swan Boats of

         19  Boston's Public Garden Lagoon; or cafes in the Bouda

         20  Siene (phonetic) in Paris. They all use concessions

         21  to improve and promote parks.

         22                 Now, there are many in the community

         23  of urban planners and designers who take a more

         24  bullish view in how concessions can make parks

         25  lively. I've given you copies of a recent article in
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          2  the City Section of the Times, Sunday September 30th

          3  that is a profile of Fred Kent. Fred Kent is an

          4  Urban Anthropologist, and he is the founder of

          5  Project for Public Spaces, which is a group that

          6  travels around the world advising cities on how to

          7  make better public spaces.

          8                 He was recently profiled in the Times

          9  article mentioned. In his opinion, that although

         10  Washington Square Park to his mind was almost

         11  perfect, the one thing it could really use would be

         12  a couple of small concessions.

         13                 This is not our point of view, but it

         14  just goes to show that on the one hand, you have

         15  people who want no concessions at all, and others

         16  who are well respected in their field who say there

         17  should be more concessions.  We're somewhat agnostic

         18  on that issue.

         19                 In the article, he goes on to say, "I

         20  would put two or three clusters of ethnic food carts

         21  surrounded by some tables and chairs, or even a

         22  little cafe restaurant in the red brick building the

         23  Parks Department uses for storage." And the writer

         24  adds, "food kiosks, to Mr. Kent's mind, are among

         25  the most appealing destinations a place can feature,
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          2  accessible fountains are another, and appealing

          3  destinations are the back bone of his prescriptions

          4  for public spaces."

          5                 As with all public works, concessions

          6  are an evolving business. Whether a renown

          7  restaurant or a curbside dosa vendor, and he happens

          8  to be here with us, the prize-winning dosa vendor,

          9  best in the City, parks concessions have added to

         10  the richness of New York City parks and the urban

         11  experience.

         12                 Concessions have also managed to

         13  transform some parts of our Parks system.

         14                 Another example of the transformative

         15  effect concessions can have on a park is at Union

         16  Square. It was a dangerous and dilapidated needle

         17  park in the early 1980s. Following the introduction

         18  of the green market, the park became a vital daytime

         19  destination, and the Luna Park Cafe made it a magnet

         20  for positive nighttime use.

         21                 The future of parks concessions is

         22  only as limited as our vision for the parks to be

         23  warranted in the future.

         24                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         25  speak, along with Assistant Commissioner Smith, and
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          2  Marla Simpson. I will be happy to answer any

          3  questions you might have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. We've

          5  been joined by Council Member James from Brooklyn,

          6  who is on the Committee, and Council Member

          7  Garodnick -- I was combining them both together --

          8  from Manhattan, who is not on the Committee, but who

          9  has expressed some concerns, and I'm glad you made

         10  it and were notified of the meeting.

         11                 I'm going to jump in. I have a few

         12  questions and then I will defer. I know you have a

         13  few questions, and then I'll see if any other

         14  members of the Committee have questions, which they

         15  do. Everybody is shaking their head.

         16                 Let me first ask a question. On page,

         17  not numbered, but on the second to last page when

         18  you speak of the FCRC rules and the notification to

         19  the public for award of a concession and

         20  communication with community boards; can you explain

         21  to me more the role of the community in not being

         22  notified after the fact but being involved

         23  throughout the process of the potential of

         24  concession coming or picking or having some

         25  involvement in a concession, which concessionaire is
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          2  chosen, and specifically when you talk on page four,

          3  the third bullet with the Committee that is put

          4  together for the request of proposal, are there any

          5  community residents or people that would actually

          6  have a vested interest in the concession, meaning,

          7  you know, the residents in the area or near the

          8  park, or whatever, on those committees?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The community

         10  board is notified about concessions before the RFP

         11  goes out. They are sent, not a full draft RPF

         12  because we cannot provide an advantage to any

         13  possible proposers. We cannot share the full RFP,

         14  legally speaking. But we do provide a synopsis of

         15  what the RFP says and what it's going to be. And the

         16  level of interest varies by community board, also

         17  varies as to whether there is a specific group of

         18  citizens involved with the life of that park, maybe

         19  a volunteer group, it might be a full-fledged

         20  conservancy, it might just be a group of highly

         21  organized volunteers, and if there is a site

         22  meeting, the public is invited to come to the site

         23  meeting. Sometimes people come and express their

         24  opinions in strong ways at the site meetings, and

         25  there is no community participation, and the
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          2  committee, the committee that reviews it, is

          3  strictly Parks Department employees and sometimes

          4  from other City agencies.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is this process

          6  of notifying the community board an independent

          7  process, or is this something that's charter

          8  mandated?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I'll let Marla

         10  answer that.

         11                 MS. SIMPSON: It's mandated under the

         12  FCRC rules.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So, it's mandated

         14  under the FCRC rules, but recently wasn't there a

         15  revision that unless someone, an individual made a

         16  request prior to a public hearing, then that

         17  individual wouldn't be heard? No? Okay. You can

         18  actually -- thank you.

         19                 MS. SIMPSON: The Commissioner was

         20  referring to the pre-RFP notification that goes to

         21  the community, and under the new rules we've

         22  actually expanded the comprehensive nature of the

         23  dialogue with the community prior to the issuance of

         24  any concession RFP.

         25                 What you're referring to, I think, is
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          2  a provision in the public hearing rule. That

          3  provision is copied from a law that this Council

          4  passed, I think the first such law that this Council

          5  passed was in about 2003, and it was implemented for

          6  all public hearings on contracts, and then it was

          7  expanded by this Council I believe in 2004, raising

          8  the dollar threshold so that again it provides an

          9  opportunity for the hearing to be cancelled if no

         10  one wishes to testify.

         11                 The provision in the FCRC rules is

         12  copied from that statute that this Council passed.

         13  It provides that notices made, as the Commissioner

         14  outlined, in the City Record, and to all the members

         15  of the FCRC, which include the Borough Presidents

         16  and to the affected community boards.

         17                 A very simple process. If someone

         18  wishes to testify, they simply notify the agency and

         19  then the hearing will definitely be held. It allows

         20  the agency discretion. Not a mandate but the

         21  discretion to cancel the hearing in the event that

         22  no one is anticipated to testify at all.

         23                 This discretion has been exercised by

         24  the City now for the last three or four years in the

         25  contract setting. We never ever exercise it when we
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          2  have reason to believe it is a controversial item or

          3  people would be likely to show up. And indeed, if

          4  people do show up on a hearing that has been

          5  cancelled, we let them speak anyway. I mean, it's

          6  been a very flexible process, but it does save a

          7  substantial amount of time and money, both for

          8  agencies and for the public, in terms of hearings

          9  that no one shows up at. I'd say about 90 percent of

         10  the hearings that we do schedule no one shows up at.

         11  So, it's basically a flexible process.

         12                 I think then that it will definitely

         13  be something that the Council will use, because I

         14  know our intent had to do with goods and services,

         15  and not goods and services in public spaces, in

         16  terms of the no hearing.

         17                 But if people show up and you hear

         18  them, if the meeting was to be cancelled but people

         19  show up, my concern would then be how much weight do

         20  we give to the public concern, because sometimes it

         21  feels as though in certain situations where you have

         22  definite community outcry, that it's almost former

         23  fashion in that we hear the concerns and I think of

         24  just two or one situation right now is with

         25  Randall's Island, and the concerns were heard and I
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          2  don't know how much was acted on in terms of what

          3  the FCRC then proceeded to do.

          4                 My next question has to do with, are

          5  some contracts handled through a license procedure,

          6  or are all of them either a contract or a permit? In

          7  the request for proposal on page -- page five, in

          8  bullet number two, if the solicitation was a request

          9  for proposal, "Parks' Legal Division begins drafting

         10  a contract or a permit;" what's the difference

         11  between a contract and a permit, and when does it

         12  become either one?

         13                 MS. SIMPSON: The difference, I think,

         14  and if I haven't gotten your question, just let me

         15  know.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes.

         17                 MS. SIMPSON: With a bid, as soon as

         18  the responder, the business, puts their bid in and

         19  the public opening is held, that is the contract.

         20  There is no ability to negotiate. It works the same

         21  for a concession as it does for goods and services.

         22  The bid package that goes out to the public contains

         23  the contract. The only open term is in effect the

         24  price. In the case of Parks, the revenue, in the

         25  case of a contract, it would be the price for goods
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          2  or services. No other term is open to discussion, so

          3  the whole bid package has to include every term that

          4  will be part of the permit, every term that will be

          5  part of the contract.

          6                 With other procurement methods, like

          7  an RFP, Request for Proposal, that process of

          8  negotiating the contract is more flexible. It's more

          9  flexible. Because what we're saying, as the

         10  Commissioner indicated, is that price is not the

         11  sole term that a decision can be made on. The agency

         12  needs to consider other issues, including the

         13  quality of the capital investment, et cetera.

         14                 So, what goes out in the request for

         15  proposal is that it's basically the scope and an

         16  invitation to the proposer to let the City know what

         17  its idea is for meeting that need.

         18                 The process of selection, as the

         19  Commissioner indicated, often allows the top rank

         20  proposers to modify their proposal, and once the

         21  winning proposer is selected an actual arm's length

         22  negotiation occurs between the agency's lawyers, and

         23  in this case, parks, and the winning proposer.

         24                 So, the terms that go into that

         25  contract or that permit don't get set until that
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          2  negotiating phase, and then there is a little give

          3  and take on both sides, and that is what comes

          4  forward for award and in the case of a significant

          5  concession, that's what comes forward for a public

          6  hearing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Now, is there,

          8  with the RFP, a specific checklist where every item

          9  is given a certain amount of weight so that

         10  objectively we can see how, you know, bidder one

         11  won, as opposed to bidder two? And the second part

         12  of that question with the criteria, what room is

         13  there for community involvement? So that the people

         14  that sit on the committee that don't involve the

         15  community have all these criterias in a checklist,

         16  but a community has worked with a vendor, he may be

         17  giving jobs, things that are not tangible on your

         18  end but might be very tangible on a community's end

         19  as to why this vendor, or, you know, is best suited.

         20                 Is there a checklist, or what weight

         21  is that given?

         22                 MS. SIMPSON: Let me answer both

         23  parts. The reason --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me one

         25  minute.
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          2                 Can someone on that side please try

          3  to stay off the lights? Addabbo. Just because the

          4  video guy is getting upset over here. Thank you.

          5                 MS. SIMPSON: One of the recent

          6  changes in the FCRC rules was a modernization of

          7  that provision. In the past, the FCRC rules had not

          8  included weights for the criteria, and, so, neither

          9  the community nor the proposer nor anyone in the

         10  public knew exactly what the weight that was going

         11  to be given to any of the criteria were, and that

         12  contravenes best practices in all of these settings.

         13                 And, so, one of the changes that was

         14  made was a requirement that the public and the

         15  proposer and the community and everyone be informed

         16  up front what the weight is that's going to be given

         17  to each criterion. You have to publish your list of

         18  criteria in the RFP, and you have to inform everyone

         19  what those weights will be.

         20                 Now, switching to the question of the

         21  community consultation, when Parks consults with the

         22  community about the scope of an RFP, a very

         23  legitimate point of dialogue which can occur then

         24  is, as you outline that scope, what will be rated

         25  and how will factors that are important to the
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          2  community be considered? That is an absolutely

          3  typical sort of dialogue, it can happen, and indeed

          4  if a community is saying that the facility is run

          5  down, that might dictate that more priority be given

          6  to capital investment and less to the actual cash

          7  revenue that would be generated in order to make the

          8  facility a better one.

          9                 That's a very good point, Council

         10  member, in terms of how a community and the Parks

         11  Department would engage in that dialogue.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And I noticed, I

         13  was going to ask you, Commissioner, you said it can

         14  occur. Does it occur with the community in terms of

         15  weighing what their concerns may be?

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: There is a

         17  constant dialogue with the community in all our

         18  parks, in a lot of things, in our operations, our

         19  events, and it can flow both ways.

         20                 What can happen is, a number of years

         21  ago there was some controversy over the placement of

         22  the concessionaire in Dag Hammarskjold Park, in

         23  fact, that's where some of this concern got started,

         24  and the concessionaire that the City wanted to

         25  select was, in fact, going to pay the City a great
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          2  deal more and provide the City basically the same

          3  kind of operations, a very small concession.

          4                 The concessionaire was very popular

          5  in the neighborhood and did things that the

          6  neighbors enjoyed and did things to curry favor, but

          7  we just felt that the offer was so much more

          8  compelling from the proposed other operator that it

          9  was really incumbent on the City to award it to

         10  someone -- we also liked the previous

         11  concessionaire, there was no problem there.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: When you say

         13  "compelling," is it money?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: In this case it

         15  was a great deal of more money for essentially the

         16  same operation, and more capital investment. And

         17  those two factors, which are two of the four or five

         18  factors that we weigh, were so much in favor of the

         19  proposed new operator. The upshot of all this,

         20  however, is that the new operator, the Milk Shake

         21  Company, has proven to be very popular, the

         22  community loves its operator, works very closely

         23  with the Friends of Dag Hammarskjold.

         24                 So, there was a bit of contratol

         25  (phonetic) at the time, but that's sort of normal.
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          2  If you have a concessionaire who is operating and

          3  doing a good job for ten years and someone comes

          4  along with an even better proposal, people are going

          5  to say, we love this person. Why are you replacing

          6  that person? But, you know, part of, you know, we

          7  also like Council members but there are rules that

          8  Council members get replaced after a few terms,

          9  concessionaires get replaced after a few terms, and

         10  things change and people often get attached to --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: The only

         12  difference is we get voted in and out, but for term

         13  limits. The concessionaires, it's not a voting

         14  process.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: But there is a

         16  limit to the period.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: And that's

         19  important, because that's the way that the City

         20  makes sure it's going to get the best possible

         21  service and the most possible income.

         22                 You know, if Tavern on the Green were

         23  turned over sooner, the City would be making a lot

         24  more money, but we're making more money from a newer

         25  concession in Central Park.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, just as a

          3  caveat, sometimes when we get more money, it doesn't

          4  mean it's better for the community. Because if you

          5  look at something like, I don't know, Yankee

          6  Stadium, the richest team in baseball in the poorest

          7  congressional district, you really don't have better

          8  service for those of us that live around it. So, I

          9  don't know that money should always be the weighing

         10  factor, given that the Parks Department doesn't even

         11  keep the money generated by the concession.

         12                 So, that is just something --

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's one of the

         14  many factors. We look at all the factors.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What is the

         16  process for review when it's found that someone who

         17  has been granted a concessionaire is not complying

         18  with the contract? What's the process for either

         19  getting compliance or getting them out? And who does

         20  the monitoring of the terms to make sure that they

         21  are complying or are not complying?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I would like to

         23  ask Commissioner Smith to handle that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And welcome,

         25  Commissioner.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SMITH: Thank

          3  you.

          4                 There is a very specific process that

          5  the Parks Department oversees with regard to the

          6  management of the contract permit that the

          7  concessionaires operate under.

          8                 As soon as the contract is in effect,

          9  we create a schedule for when payments are due. We

         10  typically bill monthly for payments, but that can

         11  also vary, depending on the terms of the contract.

         12                 Regular invoices are sent to the

         13  concessionaire, and with very specific grace

         14  periods, if that's appropriate.

         15                 And if for any reason those payments

         16  are not forthcoming, or if the grace period expires,

         17  we send notices to cure and if those notices are not

         18  complied with, we have the right to terminate the

         19  contract.

         20                 We also, of course, monitor in our

         21  larger concession agreements, the capital

         22  requirements. Those capital requirements are

         23  typically laid out in a very specific way in the

         24  contract, and so we have, as the Commission

         25  mentioned, an in-house architect and he works with
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          2  an internal auditor to make sure that the

          3  investments that the larger concessionaires are

          4  making in those facilities are being made.

          5                 So, we have an internal process. We

          6  also have an inspector that goes out to make sure

          7  that the concessionaire is complying with other

          8  terms of the contract, in terms of they're complying

          9  with other City regulations, with keeping their

         10  concessionaires neat and clean and other things that

         11  are in their permit. They are also sent notices to

         12  cure on those. There's penalties that are imposed on

         13  those concessionaires if they're not complying.

         14                 So, we have a way of monitoring. The

         15  Parks Department also has an internal auditing staff

         16  that goes and monitors and audits our larger

         17  concessions, and of course, the Comptroller of the

         18  City also has the right to audit any of our large

         19  concessions.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I would just

         21  like to add that in addition to the notices to cure,

         22  which we send out if someone isn't complying with

         23  the terms of the contract, and those could be for

         24  failing to clean the area around -- almost all the

         25  concessionaires are required to clean the area
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          2  around the concession which is one of the services

          3  it provides. Of if they're overcharging. We strictly

          4  regulate, for examples, the prices that can be

          5  charged by the small concession at the hotdog carts.

          6  They cannot charge a higher price without prior

          7  approval, and we will send out inspectors to do

          8  undercover stings to see if they're overcharging.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: But how with the

         10  cash is that monitored? Like the parking garages.

         11  You monitor the parking garages, and we know for the

         12  playoffs, parking at Yankee Stadium, $50, $100,

         13  which is not made up, how do we monitor that when,

         14  number one, it's cash? How do you know how much

         15  we're supposed to be getting and how much they're

         16  supposed to be getting?

         17                 And number two, maybe to take a step

         18  back, how many people are in your Department to

         19  monitor these concessions where some, I would

         20  assume, are little and you could probably just put

         21  it all on a spread sheet as the larger ones, if it's

         22  larger and it involves cash, if you have credit card

         23  receipts, that's something tangible.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: On the small

         25  operations, like the hotdog carts, which are
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          2  strictly a cash business, we don't collect based on

          3  the gross receipts. It's based on a flat fee. So,

          4  they're just paying us a flat fee.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm sorry, say

          6  that again.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: On the small

          8  concessions, like the hotdog carts --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right, okay.

         10  That's the 5,000.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Five-thousand,

         12  could be a little bit less, it could be a lot more

         13  in some cases, depending on the location. But those

         14  are based on a flat fee that they pay us. It's not

         15  as a percentage of the gross.

         16                 On the larger concessions there is a

         17  great deal of auditing and checking that takes place

         18  of looking at the receipts and seeing whether they

         19  match up with what they're supposed to be paying us.

         20                 There are about 30 people who work in

         21  the Revenue Division of the Parks Department, so we

         22  have book keepers, we have revenue inspectors, we

         23  have project managers who issue new RFPs and work

         24  with the new concessionaires.

         25                 Is 30 the right number? We probably
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          2  need a few more, particularly now that we're making

          3  sure that we register all the contracts and we are

          4  generally trying to be as careful as we can with how

          5  the money flows.

          6                 As Commissioner Smith mentioned, we

          7  are subject to audits by the Comptroller. We do our

          8  own internal audits. We're seeing how we can improve

          9  those processes.

         10                 I guess the point is, I think we're

         11  doing an acceptable job, but you can always do

         12  better. You can always do more inspections and check

         13  harder. But I would say on average the concessions

         14  are well run, provide a vital service, and the

         15  tangential side benefit is income to the City but

         16  that's never the most important.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: But in terms of

         18  cash coming in, how is that monitored?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The restaurants

         20  have to have -- there is whole series of

         21  requirements in terms of how they manage their

         22  income in terms of all of the receipts and number of

         23  receipts and so on. Even for things like rowboat

         24  concessions.

         25                 But, again, even with the
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          2  restaurants, they're paying on a percentage basis

          3  for the most part. They mostly get beyond the flat

          4  fees, they're paying on a percentage of the gross

          5  which all has to be monitored and reported and very

          6  proscribed procedures.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And with the

          8  parking garages, are those flat fees?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Those are

         10  percentages of gross. And the parking garages, the

         11  incident you mentioned at Yankee Stadium, it turned

         12  out that that was not one of the employees. That was

         13  a former employee who came in with his uniform and

         14  was trying to pull a fast one.

         15                 But the parking concessions at the

         16  stadia, which are separate from concessions, they

         17  are entitled to charge more during the playoffs.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SMITH: I would

         20  also add that, as the Commissioner mentioned with

         21  the food vendors, that's certainly true with

         22  parking, we approve all the rates. We approve what's

         23  charged for all food and we approve all the parking

         24  rates. We in fact approve everything that is charged

         25  on parks land, including the iceskating rinks, et
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          2  cetera.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And so two

          4  things: See, I can't multi-task.

          5                 The first thing, with the approval of

          6  rates, so we approve increases in parking during

          7  playoffs.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And whatever that

         10  approved rate, or the approval rate for everything,

         11  is that a public process, or is that something done

         12  internally based upon, I don't know, some criteria

         13  you have? Or how does that work?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's a long-time

         15  existing standard of practice. The practice of

         16  charging more for parking lots has been in practice

         17  as long as there's been parking lots and playoffs.

         18                 In terms of the rates for things like

         19  hotdog carts, things go up in price. The price of a

         20  hotdog, the price of a slice of pizza, the price

         21  goes up. So, the vendors occasionally will say,

         22  look, we've been paying you this fee each year, our

         23  costs have gone up, costs of getting, delivering the

         24  food to the carts has gone up, we need a rate

         25  increase. So we consider it. We tend to be rather
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          2  conservative in that regard.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And is it a rate

          4  across the board? Or would a hotdog in Central Park

          5  cost me more than a hotdog in the south end of

          6  Central Park, which is closer to uptown, even though

          7  that's become gentrified --

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We have managed

          9  to keep the price or hotdogs static across the

         10  system.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So every hotdog

         12  is the same price.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Every hotdog I

         14  believe is about $2.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The hot sausage

         16  is $3.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We've been joined

         18  by Council Member Gerson, and Council Member

         19  Addabbo, both who were at other hearings. I just

         20  have two more questions, because I know that my

         21  colleagues have a lot of questions.

         22                 Are there any contracts,

         23  concessionaires that are sole sourced?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: There is about,

         25  literally a handful of sole sourced contracts, five
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          2  or six.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And how is that

          4  sole sourcing determined? And what are they, if you

          5  know?

          6                 MS. SIMPSON: I don't have a list of

          7  them here. Although, I will say that the sole source

          8  concessions tend to come majority from agencies

          9  other than parks.

         10                 Let me give you an example of a

         11  typical sole source concession. There are small

         12  strips of waterfront land that the City owns, which

         13  is also inalienable because of its waterfront

         14  character.

         15                 The Department of Citywide

         16  Administrative Services, DCAS, tends to -- they're

         17  responsible for doing those concessions, if

         18  possible, so that the City can get some revenue or

         19  at least maintenance of those lots. They can be as

         20  small as ten feet wide, or whatever, and they are

         21  typically done as a concession to the neighboring

         22  property owner, and that would be the only

         23  individual who would be invited to bid, if you will,

         24  to have that concession.

         25                 Those are routinely done as sole
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          2  source, all of them are sole sourced, to my

          3  knowledge have never been controversial, no one has

          4  ever shown up to testify, but those are routinely

          5  sole source.

          6                 Under the rules of the FCRC, as

          7  recently amended, those types of DCAS concessions

          8  for those small strips of waterfront land would

          9  still be done at the FCRC but they would go through

         10  more of a fast-track one-step approval process

         11  called "negotiated concession."

         12                 Another example of sole source are

         13  the types of concessions that from time to time the

         14  Economic Development Corporation brings to Small

         15  Business Services, and they are brought to the FCRC

         16  for approval in a two-step approval process where

         17  first there is an opportunity to approve the

         18  agency's decision to negotiate on a sole source

         19  basis, and second, there is an approval by the FCRC

         20  of the actual award of the concession.

         21                 An example of that has been some

         22  discussions up in the Bronx about use of the

         23  Kingsbridge Armory for movie making. That would be

         24  an example of something that was brought to the

         25  attention of the FCRC on a sole source basis with a
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          2  particular movie corporation.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The examples of

          4  sole source contracts in parks include both

          5  non-profit, mostly non-profit organizations and a

          6  few for-profit. An example of a for-profit sole

          7  source contract is the Circle Line which operates

          8  the ferries to Liberty and Ellis Islands. The reason

          9  it's sole source is because their primary contract

         10  is with the National Park Service to provide the

         11  Ferry Service to the Islands.

         12                 They simply use Battery Park as a

         13  place to embark and disembark. We don't really have

         14  a choice, whoever the National Park Service selects.

         15  We have to do it as a sole source.

         16                 Another sort of more obscure sole

         17  source contract is with the City University system

         18  at Kingsborough Community College, where they use a

         19  parking lot during the school season. It is publicly

         20  owned parking lot, but for public and civic purposes

         21  it makes sense for Kingsborough to use that.

         22                 Another well-known non-profit user of

         23  parks are the green markets. The green markets, the

         24  farmers markets, the 70 or so around the City, a

         25  number of them happen in City parks and I'm happy to
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          2  say that the City Council alumnus Marcel Van Ooyen

          3  is with us in the audience, they have a sole source

          4  contract to provide farmers markets around the City,

          5  which are very popular.

          6                 The Theater Development Fund, which

          7  is a group that operates the tickets booth, Times

          8  Square. It's currently under renovation. They have a

          9  sole source contract. The Downtown Alliance, which

         10  is the bid that helps make the downtown streets

         11  cleaner and safer, in exchange for cleaning some

         12  downtown parks, they have sublicenses, they have

         13  outdoor cafes which are sublicensed to nearby cafes

         14  to provide a little outdoor cafe. In return, the

         15  Alliance provides cleaning and security services for

         16  those parks. And the Randall's Island Sports

         17  Foundation has the sole source contracts on the

         18  fields project, which has been much discussed, and

         19  the Battery Conservancy, which is a non-profit group

         20  that raises millions of dollars a year for Battery

         21  Park, has a sole source contract to run two small

         22  kiosks, the profits of which go back into the park.

         23                 And finally, I think the Prospect

         24  Park Alliance has a sole source contract to run the

         25  concessions, the food and the skate rentals at Kate
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          2  Wallman Rink at Prospect Park.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Director Simpson,

          4  can you go back to what you said about Kingsbridge

          5  Armory, please?

          6                 MS. SIMPSON: There have been some

          7  discussions about the use of Kingsbridge Armory on a

          8  temporary basis for filming.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 I have a lot of questions, but I know

         11  Committee members and non-Committee members have

         12  questions and I want to hear from everyone else. So,

         13  I will probably follow-up in writing with some of

         14  the questions.

         15                 My last question, are there any

         16  concessions that are grandfathered in?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I'm not sure

         18  what you mean by that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That don't have

         20  to go through the process, that get to be there

         21  because they've been there so long?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Not that I'm

         23  aware of.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, thank you.

         25                 Council Member Garodnick.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

          3  Chair Foster.

          4                 First of all, let me thank you for

          5  holding this hearing. I think this is an important

          6  issue for us to be exploring together and I'd like

          7  to thank Commissioner Benepe and the Parks

          8  Department representatives who are here.

          9                 Just very briefly, my interest in the

         10  subject, as the Commissioner noted, came about in

         11  the event in my district relating to Dag

         12  Hammarskjold Park, which I think by the definitions

         13  here that I understand from your testimony,

         14  Commissioner, would be categorized in the

         15  non-significant concession, in that it was less than

         16  ten years and would have generated less than

         17  $100,000 per year for the City of New York; do I

         18  understand that right?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         21                 So, this was an issue which raised

         22  some questions in the community about process and

         23  procedure and what I really wanted to focus on with

         24  you today.

         25                 I also wanted to note that there are
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          2  representatives from the Office of Assemblyman Bing

          3  and Cavanaugh, who are here, both of whom have

          4  expressed some interest in this, as well.

          5                 Just to make sure that I understand,

          6  the first category of concession, the

          7  Non-significant, we just noted a second ago. The

          8  Significant concession, you said in your testimony

          9  it was greater than ten years in generating more

         10  than $100,000 to the City of New York, and then the

         11  major concession which would go through the full

         12  ULURP process; is that right?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Let's talk

         15  for a second about the public process relating to

         16  non-significant concessions. And actually, let's

         17  take a step back for a second, can you give us a

         18  breakdown, the number of non-significant

         19  concessions, relative to the total that exists?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I believe it's

         21  in the neighborhood of 70 or 80 percent of all --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Seventy or

         23  80 percent are non-significant?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes, at least.

         25  Perhaps more.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's primarily

          4  the little snackbars, hotdog carts, and other minor

          5  concessions.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. So,

          7  those are the vast majority of the concessions that

          8  are out there. Let's talk about the process relating

          9  to those specifically, because that's really where I

         10  have my specific interest and certainly relative to

         11  the experience in my district.

         12                 So, when there is a non-significant

         13  concession, if you put it out for an RPF, presumably

         14  -- why don't you just take us through that process

         15  for non-significant? How the community would be

         16  involved, and let's just go through that

         17  specifically.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Okay. I laid it

         19  out.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: In the

         21  testimony. I saw it in the testimony, but --

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes. Immediately

         23  after where we defined not significant and major, we

         24  go through step-by-step what happens on the various

         25  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Let me just

          3  ask you specifically about the community process. My

          4  understanding, from what you said in your testimony,

          5  was that they are involved potentially in the

          6  consultation of the drafting of an RFP or of a

          7  Request for Bid; is that right?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: For significant.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, they

         10  would not even be consulted for non-significant.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, they're

         12  notified about it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         14                 So, in the process of non-significant

         15  concessions, which we have about 70 or 80 percent,

         16  the community board, or the local community is

         17  notified of the existence of a process that the

         18  Parks Department is going through, but they are not

         19  consulted for drafting the RFP or RFB?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, it depends

         21  how you define consult.

         22                 For all of the concessions, including

         23  not significant, the effective community board and

         24  borough president are notified in writing that we're

         25  releasing a Request for Bid or Request for
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          2  Proposals. By rule we're not required to have a

          3  hearing in the effective community board on the

          4  developing the scope of the RFP or RFB, unless it's

          5  a significant concession.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. So, I

          7  think I'm clear --

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: However, in

          9  practice, for example, at Dag, there were

         10  significant discussions, there were meetings held,

         11  our Borough Commissioner William Castro was

         12  involved. There was a great deal of consultation on

         13  this. There was an essential disagreement. One group

         14  felt that the concession that was existing should

         15  stay, even though it was offering a lot less money.

         16  The City felt differently.

         17                 I think the happy outcome is that

         18  everybody loves a new concessionaire that is

         19  providing the same or better level of service as the

         20  previous concessionaire, and the income to the City,

         21  which is tangential, is more.

         22                 So, I think occasionally the term

         23  "consultation" is confused with approval.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: You have
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          2  consultation without approval, we don't always agree

          3  on these things, and the City and the Parks

          4  Department are required to review a lot of factors,

          5  and though the neighborhood sentiments about one

          6  operator or the other may be one of the things we

          7  take into consideration. It's not part of the formal

          8  criteria. And I think it's important because there

          9  are different ways that a concessionaire can

         10  influence or curry favor that might make one

         11  neighborhood prefer a certain operator, and the City

         12  has to be careful to sort of have a bit of a wall.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Let me be

         14  clear, though. My questions at the moment or just

         15  geared toward understanding specifically what the

         16  Parks Department does and is required to do in these

         17  circumstances, and from what I understand from what

         18  you're saying is that the vast majority of the

         19  concessions, which fall under the category of

         20  non-significant, the rule for the Parks Department

         21  as defined by the FCRC is that you must notify in

         22  writing the community board. Whether additional acts

         23  are taken in Dag's circumstance or any other

         24  circumstance, that is a case-by-case, but the rule

         25  is you must notify in writing, and that is the only
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          2  obligation to you as the Parks Department or any

          3  other Department; is that right?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That's my

          5  understanding.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. Let

          7  me talk to you for a second about, and by the way,

          8  let me just take issue also, because I know that you

          9  mentioned, you know, everyone being happy with the

         10  new concession, I'm just not sure if that might be

         11  too broad a statement. I don't know the views of

         12  everybody in the neighborhood, and so, I just want

         13  to be clear that there are still some people who

         14  wish to have the old one back. That's a conversation

         15  for another day.

         16                 What I want to ask you about is the

         17  factors that are considered in deciding on this.

         18  Since this is one which is not one with a public

         19  hearing, or a public process, other than just

         20  notification of a community board by the formal

         21  terms of the FCRC, there really is much more

         22  internal process for the Parks Department or another

         23  agency for making these determinations.

         24                 And my question is, is the past

         25  experience of a concessionaire in the specific
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          2  community in which it serves, considered as a factor

          3  in the rating scale that you all use in making these

          4  determinations?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The experience

          6  of the concessionaire is one of the five factors.

          7  One of the five weighted factors.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Experience

          9  where they are or just general experience?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: General

         11  experience, because we wouldn't want to discriminate

         12  against somebody who is successful in another

         13  neighborhood.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. So,

         15  the experience is weighted just in terms of overall

         16  experience, not --

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Overall

         18  experience.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Right.

         20                 Is there any opportunity -- I mean,

         21  obviously people become attached to particular

         22  concessionaires in some circumstances and some

         23  situations they're just as happy to see them gone.

         24                 In the situations where you have, or

         25  where there is known community support for a
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          2  particular concessionaire and you have the bid

          3  process, and recognizing everything that you said,

          4  and I believe that to be an important point that you

          5  made about how there needs to be formality and there

          6  needs to be some rigidity in the system or else you

          7  are subject to undue influence and other things, I

          8  think that's an important point.

          9                 My question for you, though, is if

         10  you have a known concessionaire that is favored by

         11  community, is there any opportunity given to that

         12  concessionaire if a bid process, if a higher bid

         13  comes in, to give the other bidders who are out

         14  there an opportunity to either up their bids or

         15  change their bids in any way, or is that just

         16  something that is precluded from the formal process?

         17                 MS. SIMPSON: Let me talk a little bit

         18  about the formal process and I'll answer that

         19  question. But, first of all, when we talk about the

         20  factors that are considered, and I'm going to focus

         21  on an RFP, because that's the type of concession

         22  that you're talking about, it's a proposal setting,

         23  it's not a bid. Remember, if it was a bid there

         24  would be no back and forth at all, the contract is

         25  in the package, you're bidding to do that contract
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          2  by its exact terms and the only variable is price.

          3                 That's not what we're talking about

          4  with concession at Dag. When you're in a proposal

          5  setting, among the issues that are looked at, in

          6  addition to experience are community -- are often

          7  the operations of the concession.

          8                 Now, it will vary with the type of

          9  the concession, a small snackbar might be different

         10  than a large recreation facility, but the Parks

         11  Department has from time to time where appropriate

         12  considered such issues as community programming.

         13  It's very common for Parks RFP's to specifically ask

         14  their proposers, particularly in the recreation

         15  arena, what they're doing for programs for seniors,

         16  programs for youth. That is a very common criterion

         17  that you see in Parks' RFPs all the time, and which

         18  proposers are rated and selection processes are

         19  influenced by that.

         20                 When you talk about the specific

         21  issue of whether a community favors a particular

         22  business winning a particular concession, it's

         23  really no different than what you face in any type

         24  of ongoing service provision that the City does,

         25  whether it's concession or contract.
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          2                 This happens, for example, in human

          3  services contracts where a neighborhood is used to

          4  having a particular provider as the operator of

          5  their senior center, but the law requires us to do

          6  these awards for limited time and on a competitive

          7  basis, and it is important that the City remain

          8  scrupulously fair in allowing new entrepreneurs or

          9  new organizations to come into neighborhoods. Among

         10  other reasons, neighborhoods change, and so if you

         11  took a factor and weighted it so that the incumbent

         12  would always win, you would preclude new entrants,

         13  whether they're coming, new immigrants to the City,

         14  new entrants to a neighborhood, from competing

         15  fairly to win a contract or to win a concession. And

         16  this is subject, as you know, to frequent

         17  litigation.

         18                 So, again, the City tries in

         19  evaluating the criteria and in setting up the

         20  process for evaluating an RFP, tries to maintain a

         21  level, as the Commissioner indicated, of certain

         22  amount of detachment from the question of whether an

         23  individual business will win or lose.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I think

         25  that that is important, of course. That the
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          2  Department have detachment from one business over

          3  another, and I, again, think that the formality of a

          4  process is critical and I really, and I hope that

          5  you take my questions, I'm not specifically focusing

          6  on this example. It is what, you know, informs my

          7  questions, but I'm not focusing on this specific

          8  example.

          9                 What I hear from you, though, is that

         10  in an RFP process, you may consider community

         11  programming and other things that are important to a

         12  neighborhood, but you wouldn't consider necessarily

         13  just the general feeling of goodness for the

         14  concessionaire. And I think that is fair.

         15                 My question, though, is for the 70 to

         16  80 percent of the concessions, which are

         17  non-significant concessions, there is no requirement

         18  that the Parks Department go to a community board to

         19  discuss whether community programming and other

         20  things should be part of an RFP; is that right?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, I think

         22  the RFP is provided at the community board. The

         23  community board gets back to us and says, you know,

         24  we really want to have some kind of community

         25  benefit or something as part of this. We can but
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          2  it's pretty hard to do, because the vast majority of

          3  these, remember, these are requests for bids.

          4  Basically we're going to have some kind of a hotdog

          5  or snackbar, it's going to be three- or

          6  four-thousand dollars a year, which is de minimis.

          7  The income is really de minimis in these. The issue

          8  is when you go to this park and this neighborhood,

          9  will you be able to buy a hotdog or a soda or a

         10  pretzel? It's a provision of a very basic service.

         11                 There isn't a whole lot of variation

         12  that you can look for in a Request for Bids on

         13  something --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Then is

         15  there a middle category here that we should be

         16  exploring together? Something which is more

         17  significant than the hot dog vendor, but less

         18  significant than the $100,000 per year plus

         19  generator for the City?

         20                 I guess what I'm looking for, you

         21  know what I'm looking for here is that there is

         22  clearly some level in there where community

         23  participation might be of more value and where you

         24  might want to have that at the outset, even defined

         25  by law, is the smaller or non-significant
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          2  concessions.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SMITH: I think

          4  one thing might clarify your question, because the

          5  decision to either have a request for bid or a

          6  request for a proposal is the Parks Department. So

          7  that just because something is small, doesn't

          8  necessarily mean it has to be a request for a bid.

          9                 If we know of a circumstance where

         10  more factors are needed to weigh, whether or not

         11  that's -- you know, more than price is relevant. We

         12  could take a very small hotdog cart, for example,

         13  location, or where we would think a very small food

         14  vendor would be appropriate, and if we feel other

         15  factors should be weighed in the determination on

         16  who gets that concession, we will put out a Request

         17  for Proposal rather than a Request for Bid. So, I

         18  think that where I think there may be some

         19  misunderstanding is that you're assuming that if

         20  something is small and non-significant, it's a

         21  request for a bid. But that's not true.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: No, from

         23  what I hear, the Parks Department makes the

         24  threshold determination, whether it's a Request for

         25  a Bid, which could be the really small stuff, or
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          2  Request for Proposal which might have more of a

          3  process to it. But in either situation, for

          4  non-significant concession, there is no

          5  responsibility by the Parks Department to provide

          6  that RFP for initial comment to a community or a

          7  community board, if I understand it.

          8                 And if that is an impractical thing

          9  to do, I'd like to hear that, in terms of the size

         10  or number. But I just want to make sure that is

         11  correct, from what I'm saying.

         12                 MS. SIMPSON: Your framing of what the

         13  legal requirement is is correct, and that is the way

         14  the rules have been since the 1989 Charter, that's

         15  not a change.

         16                 I will make a couple of observations

         17  on ways in which communities have had input in that

         18  process, notwithstanding, and then an observation on

         19  a new program that we hope will contribute to a

         20  better dialogue in the future.

         21                 As the Commissioner noted, the RFP is

         22  provided, there is a notification that goes to the

         23  community to tell them that it's going to happen.

         24  And Parks Department is an agency where they are at

         25  the community boards, their borough commissioners
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          2  are available, so when that notification goes out,

          3  it is quite common, even in a non-significant

          4  setting, for the community to reach out and to say

          5  to the Parks Department, we have some opinions about

          6  this, and the Parks Department will take account of

          7  that.

          8                 It is also possible, and happens

          9  frequently, since community boards see the RFP

         10  notification in the City Record, they request a copy

         11  of it if they don't have a formal copy already, and

         12  they make suggestions while the RFP is on the

         13  street.

         14                 The rules provide for a process

         15  called addendum, where RFPs can be modified and can

         16  be significantly edited and changed while the

         17  process is going on. It is not unusual for either a

         18  vendor who sees a missed opportunity or a flaw or

         19  something in an RFP that they have a question about,

         20  or a community member to say, there's this RFP, it's

         21  on the street, would you consider modifying it in

         22  the following way?

         23                 That process can happen. It's a

         24  public process. Under the rules questions are

         25  received and answers are provided and where
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          2  appropriate, the RFP is changed, and additional time

          3  is given for a response.

          4                 That happens very, very commonly in

          5  this process, and it's a process that I would

          6  encourage anyone who is an activist in their area to

          7  follow if they see something that isn't quite what

          8  they expected.

          9                 Lastly, on the point of the current

         10  process, I would say that the Parks Department

         11  follows a template. Each RFP, for each type of

         12  concession, are really quite similar. So, a

         13  community that has seen one of them has probably got

         14  a pretty good idea of what the format of the next

         15  one is going to be. So, when you get that initial

         16  notification, you can say I know you're going to be

         17  rating the following criteria, would you consider

         18  including a stronger weight on community program?

         19  Here's why.

         20                 That's a very common thing, because,

         21  again, these RFPs are not new works of pros each

         22  time. They're pretty much the same, and you can have

         23  those discussions based on what you know the

         24  template to be.

         25                 Last point. Under the new rules, we
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          2  took another --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: This is the

          4  new FCRC rules?

          5                 MS. SIMPSON: The ones who took

          6  effect. We added a new procedural opportunity which

          7  we are hopeful will really increase the transparency

          8  and the robustness of the community dialogue. And,

          9  again, we took this from a model that has worked,

         10  was recently suggested, in the human services

         11  setting by advocates in the human services vendor

         12  community.

         13                 We imposed a requirement for an

         14  annual plan, so that in addition to these scatter

         15  shot notices that the community gets when an

         16  individual concession is being awarded, there will

         17  be an annual opportunity where each neighborhood

         18  will see all the concessions that are recurring.

         19                 Now, if there is a brand new idea, as

         20  the Commissioner says, somebody says let's have a

         21  new organic food cart, you know, here, that won't be

         22  in the plan and so it will have its own separate

         23  notice process later.

         24                 But for those concessions that we

         25  know about that each year a certain number are going
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          2  to expire and come around, we would like to see the

          3  community get a comprehensive list.

          4                 Now, because the rules have always

          5  had this provision that differentiated between

          6  significant and non-significant, the inclusion of

          7  the non-significant concessions is not a mandate,

          8  it's an option in the plan. But we've been working

          9  with the Parks Department extensively and we know

         10  that that is their intention to do, because we have

         11  a list of when each of the food carts expires. We

         12  know in each neighborhood how many are going to come

         13  up each year. It's a really good way to engage on a

         14  comprehensive plan basis so that the community can

         15  tell all at once this is what's on the agenda for

         16  our neighborhood this year.

         17                 That's a brand new process. It's

         18  untested. We're very hopeful, based on past

         19  experience, that it will provide a good dialogue and

         20  that the agencies that use it and that include all

         21  other concessions on that list will see a great

         22  benefit from that process.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I would like to

         24  add, Council member, if I may, that the whole issue

         25  of discussion of concessions doesn't occur in a
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          2  vacuum. It's not like suddenly our only connection

          3  with the community board is when we have a

          4  discussion with the concession. There is an ongoing

          5  dialogue with not just the community board, but with

          6  neighborhood associations, civic groups, parks

          7  associations, volunteer organizations, that happens

          8  on a daily basis.

          9                 So, for example, while we mandate

         10  that our managers attend all the community board

         11  Parks Committee meetings, just to be there for

         12  whatever the issue might be, there is an ongoing

         13  dialogue. There are partnerships for parks outreach

         14  coordinators, 30 of them, who work across the City

         15  working with parks groups, each manager attends

         16  community board meetings. We go to the borough board

         17  meetings, we go to the district service cabinet

         18  meetings. There is a tremendous level of dialogue at

         19  all times, and there are many opportunities for the

         20  issues of concessions, among other issues, to be

         21  brought up. So, there's a constant dialogue. Could

         22  there be more? There could always be more. One of

         23  the great successes and one of the reasons that

         24  parks are so much better now than they were 20 years

         25  ago is because of the involvement of citizens in the
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          2  life of the parks. And that's why there are 60,000

          3  volunteers in the Partnerships for Parks Programs.

          4  That's why there are over 2,000 volunteer groups.

          5  And that's why with a group like the Prospect Park

          6  Alliance, who has a community committee, a full

          7  committee of the Prospect Park Alliance that gets

          8  involved with the life of the park, including things

          9  like the concessions, including the tennis house and

         10  the iceskating rink.

         11                 So, I guess my main point is, it's

         12  not like we do the bare minimum. We will probably do

         13  more consultation on all issues than any City

         14  agency, in terms of the life of the park.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay, thank

         16  you.

         17                 I appreciate that this is not a

         18  one-shot deal in terms of Parks interaction with the

         19  community boards, and I suppose the one point that I

         20  would make from everything I heard, and I appreciate

         21  there are new changes coming, I do hope that will

         22  include the non-significant concessions, because I

         23  think that if it's out there, we might as well share

         24  it, and it's a way to give the community boards a

         25  head start in terms of commenting and sharing their
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          2  feedback.

          3                 But when there is a formal RFP

          4  process, it seems that a community board shouldn't

          5  necessarily have to go hunting for it in the City

          6  Record but rather if that's something which could be

          7  provided to them as a matter of course.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, it is.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: It is now.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: By Charter it

         11  is.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So that's

         13  the notification that's given. It's the RFP itself.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: A notification

         15  is sent. The RFP isn't itself, because we can't give

         16  them an unfair advantage. The community board

         17  meeting is a public meeting so if there's a copy of

         18  a full RFP and someone says, ah, I've got a head

         19  start.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I'm sorry.

         21  So, there's notification given.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Notification

         23  with quite a broad description of what that would

         24  be.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And
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          2  subsequently an RFP comes out.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: When the RFP is

          4  issued --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Then it

          6  goes to the community board.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes, and the

          8  elected officials.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay, the

         10  last question I have for you -- and I know that

         11  there are lots, I'm sorry I have taken too much time

         12  already -- is I just wanted to go back.

         13  Commissioner, you mentioned, I know there was lots

         14  of discussion in the context of the situation, it is

         15  the undercurrent of our conversation here today, but

         16  relating to registration of contracts, and you just

         17  noted something in your testimony and I just wanted

         18  to ask you about it a little bit.

         19                 You mentioned that not all contracts

         20  were registered with the Comptroller. Can you just

         21  say a little bit more about that? I want to know

         22  what you can say about that. How many of them are

         23  not registered, or what the story is with that?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Historically not

         25  all the contracts were registered, particularly for
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          2  the smaller concessions.

          3                 There was a view legally held that

          4  the contract was deemed registered within 30 days,

          5  if it was not registered by the Comptroller. This

          6  was something that was done through a series of

          7  administrations, a serious of Mayoral

          8  administrations. And, in fact, when audits were done

          9  by the Comptroller of these concessions, the issue

         10  that it was not registered was never brought up in

         11  these audits over the years.

         12                 It has become an issue, people

         13  believe it's important, it's now being done, all

         14  contracts will be registered with the Comptroller.

         15  We're busy registering everything that is existing.

         16  We've been spending months working on this with the

         17  Mayor's Office of Contract Services. The few that

         18  are not yet registered will be registered. There are

         19  a few that are about to end after, you know, a five-

         20  or ten-year term, where you could register but it

         21  wouldn't make much sense because we're about to end

         22  it anyway, but we are bringing everything up to

         23  speed legally. This Administration is doing it. It

         24  wasn't done in the previous Administrations. Why it

         25  wasn't done, that's a matter of conjecture, but it
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          2  wasn't, and we're trying to do everything.

          3                 Do you want to add anything to that?

          4                 MS. SIMPSON: No. Again, in the rules

          5  we've had discussions which the Comptroller's Office

          6  was enormously helpful with.

          7                 We have a process for some of these

          8  older concessions where maybe not every provision in

          9  the rule was followed at the time, or we can't

         10  document it. You know, 15 years later we can't prove

         11  that it was followed at the time. There is now a

         12  process in the rules that will allow us to evaluate

         13  whether the concession was fairly awarded and what

         14  we call a "minor rules violation notification" will

         15  go to the FCRC. And once we do that, we'll be able

         16  to register them, even though it might not be

         17  possible to document, you know, ten years ago in a

         18  prior administration, not every i was dotted or t

         19  was crossed, but at least it's important to get that

         20  contract publicly available which the registration

         21  process does.

         22                 And, so we'll be able to do that with

         23  these changes that just got implemented.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Good. And

         25  we're glad you're bringing those --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I just will

          3  point out the contracts were, as public documents,

          4  always publicly available. Just because they weren't

          5  registered doesn't mean they weren't publicly

          6  available.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Does this

          8  give them an additional level of public

          9  availability? Is that what this does?

         10                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, it does that and I

         11  think it also gives a level of scrutiny at the

         12  Comptroller's Office which was brought to our

         13  attention. And we worked with them on this line of

         14  rules process so that we could ensure that more of

         15  the concessions would be able to be registered, and

         16  that's the process that, again, with the Parks

         17  Department and with the Comptroller's Office, we've

         18  had some very productive discussions.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I would like to

         20  add that we find the services of the Comptroller to

         21  be enormously valuable. They have teams of

         22  accountants, book keepers and people understanding

         23  business processes much larger than ours. So, we

         24  find the audits to be quite helpful in identifying

         25  areas.
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          2                 We don't always agree with all of the

          3  conclusions of the audits, and sometimes there are

          4  legal disagreements between the Law Department and

          5  the Comptroller's Office, but 90 percent of what

          6  happens or more, it's really enormously helpful, and

          7  area of expertise which goes even beyond ours.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         12                 Next we have Council Member James.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: First let me

         14  welcome Council Member Sears to the Committee. It's

         15  an honor and a privilege, and she was just telling

         16  me she has no parks in her district, and I felt so

         17  sorry for her.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You should.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes. That's

         20  awful.

         21                 Can I get some preliminaries out of

         22  the way? Commissioner, we still can't find $300,000

         23  for Fort Greene Park. So, if you could somehow find

         24  it in your budget, or in the City of New York, that

         25  would be very helpful.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I know we've

          3  discussed this. We'll see what we can do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I think it may

          6  have been applied to another capital project.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Well, if you

          8  could do that, that would be very helpful.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It hasn't been

         10  stolen.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         12                 And Marcel, we need a green market on

         13  Lafayette Avenue. I would like to have a

         14  conversation with you also, please. Green market.

         15  Thank you very much.

         16                 Last, my third preliminary before I

         17  get into the issue of concessions is, as you know,

         18  Commissioner, we are coming upon the centennial of

         19  Fort Greene Park, and as you know, there are some

         20  war heroes that are buried in Fort Greene Park, and

         21  as you know, that park unfortunately has not

         22  received its due. And, so, I would urge -- I guess

         23  it's really not to you, Commissioner, but to the

         24  Mayor of the City of New York, the fact that we have

         25  war heroes who are buried at Fort Greene Park, the
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          2  fact that that is an Olmsted and Vaux Park

          3  (phonetic), it's the second oldest park in the

          4  Borough of Brooklyn, and the fact that it's in its

          5  current condition is really deplorable. We really

          6  need to invest and engage in a major capital project

          7  for Fort Greene Park, and I urge you to come, and

          8  the Mayor of the City of New York to come to a tour

          9  of Fort Greene Park, as we celebrate its centennial

         10  next year.

         11                 Let me also say, that's the second

         12  oldest park. The first oldest park is Commodore

         13  Barry, which also is in very, very poor condition.

         14  And my third park is Mount Prospect Park, Tupper. My

         15  third park, Mount Prospect, and we really need to

         16  focus on that park, as well, and Tupper, I know you

         17  join me in that.

         18                 And, Tupper, wouldn't you love to see

         19  a Mineral Spring Spa in Prospect Park? It would be

         20  wonderful.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay, I'm

         23  getting to my point.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Please.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: My point is the
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          2  concessions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And my question

          5  is, how do you -- do you have a spread sheet,

          6  Commissioner, with respect to the number of

          7  concessions in the Borough of Brooklyn?

          8                 Are concessions only provided for the

          9  larger parks as opposed to the smaller parks?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We could get you

         11  one. We don't have one handy.

         12                 No, concessions go from large to

         13  small. The concessionaires tend to want to do

         14  business where there's a lot of foot traffic. It's

         15  the same thing with the green markets, so there

         16  isn't a lot of foot traffic. It's hard to get a

         17  large concessionaire interested. But in many of the

         18  small parks, the smaller entrepreneurial vendors

         19  will take a chance that they can set up a cart or a

         20  small cafe or a snack bar and make some money. And

         21  as parks have improved, as they have across the

         22  City, many parks didn't have concessions before and

         23  now have interest from small entrepreneurs having

         24  cafes and snackbars.

         25                 But sometimes even with the best
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          2  intentions, for example, Brad Taylor is here from

          3  Friends of Morningside Park, we work really closely

          4  with them and very hard to get a concessionaire into

          5  Morningside Park, and we did, in fact, have one but

          6  there just wasn't enough foot traffic to generate

          7  the kind of revenue the concessionaire needed to

          8  succeed and went under.

          9                 So, unfortunately, with concessions

         10  it's really location location location. If you have

         11  a lot of foot traffic, and a lot of office workers

         12  who come out at lunchtime and so on, you have a

         13  successful area for concession. If you have light

         14  foot traffic all week long and only have people

         15  coming out on the weekends, it's unlikely anybody

         16  but a sort of very small entrepreneur is going to

         17  succeed in that location.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Commissioner --

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We do have them,

         20  I should say, in all parks of all sizes. I go to

         21  parks and I see them, and I travel all around the

         22  boroughs in many of the parks, including small

         23  parks, and sort of lightly populated neighborhoods.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Well,

         25  Commissioner, as you know, a number of residents in
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          2  Fort Greene and Clinton Hill have consistently asked

          3  me for permits to use all the parks in my district,

          4  and Fort Greene is very, very popular. As you know,

          5  this past summer we had a major concert in Fort

          6  Greene Park --

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes, you did.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: -- That I

          9  sponsored with Talik Quali. We had over 7,000

         10  individuals. We had 12 food vendors.  By 3:00,

         11  halfway through the concert, all of the food had

         12  been sold out. And it just speaks to the volume of

         13  traffic in Fort Greene Park.

         14                 This Saturday I happened to be a

         15  judge for a Halloween dog costume event. It usually

         16  attracts 500 individuals, and wouldn't it be

         17  wonderful to have hot cider or wouldn't it be

         18  wonderful to go to a vendor and purchase a latte or

         19  cappacino.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: At your

         21  suggestion I think we would easily issue an RFP for

         22  that park. If the community you think would like to

         23  see more concessions and more activity, we would be

         24  happy to do so.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I would love
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          2  for you to consider, again, Fort Greene Park --

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Wonderful. I'll

          4  do that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: With respect to

          6  your revenue, what is the total revenue of Parks

          7  Department, separating the amounts of funds that you

          8  receive from the City Council? What's your total

          9  budget?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Our total budget

         11  is approximately 366, 370 million dollars on the

         12  Expense side; on the Capital side we're budgeted for

         13  about $700 million this year.

         14                 That doesn't include the below the

         15  line things, like debt service and pension and

         16  benefit costs. So, roughly we'll spend over a

         17  billion dollars this year.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Now, in 2007,

         19  as of today's date, you have generated $39 million

         20  and in concession fees; is that correct?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes, that's

         22  concession fees, as opposed to there are also forms

         23  of revenue we have. Like the revenue from the stadia

         24  and from large parking lots associated with the

         25  stadiums.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: What's the

          3  total amount of fees that one generates from leases

          4  and all of that?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: When you add up

          6  all of the fees, the leases, the licenses, the

          7  permits, the concessions, the permits for tennis,

          8  tennis permit holders, baseball field fees and so

          9  on, it's approximately $76 million.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And of that $76

         11  million, how much of that goes back into your

         12  coffers, goes back to the Parks Department?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: None of it goes

         14  back to the Parks Department.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It all goes to

         16  the general revenue?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Most of it goes

         18  to the general fund. A small amount, in about ten

         19  cases, there is a non-profits group that holds a

         20  concession, and some of the income, if there is

         21  income, can go back to that specific park. So of the

         22  four- or five-hundred concessions, there's about ten

         23  that are held by non-profit groups, including the

         24  Prospect Park Alliance --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Right.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: -- Where the

          3  income goes back to that park.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It goes back

          5  to?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The income, for

          7  example, from the skating rink --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Right.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: -- Goes back to

         10  Prospect Park. The Prospect Park Alliance is a big

         11  enough business, it's set up that it can run

         12  something like that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Are there any

         14  discussions with the City of New York with respect

         15  to getting a greater return on your revenue that you

         16  generate?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: You mean making

         18  more money for the City, or having money come back

         19  to the Parks?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Having the

         21  money come back to the Parks Department.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's been

         23  discussed. In some cities, the states and federal

         24  governments, the income goes back to those parks.

         25  So, the state park system keeps its income, the
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          2  national parks keep their income, some city systems,

          3  like Chicago, keep their income. It's one approach.

          4  Some people see that as an advantage. Some people

          5  would like to see all the income staying in the

          6  Parks Department, some would like to see it, some

          7  have suggested, stay in a specific park.

          8                 There is pluses and minuses to that.

          9  If you could baseline that money and make sure it

         10  stays there, and that the money isn't taken out on

         11  the other side during the budget process, it would

         12  make sense.

         13                 Speaking just currently of this

         14  Administration, we get so much more out of the

         15  general tax levy than we would from concessions,

         16  that if that were our sole source of income, that

         17  would be a problem.

         18                 The other thing that happens is,

         19  there might be a temptation. I've seen this in other

         20  cities, I recently visited Chicago, which has a

         21  magnificent park system. The Chicago parks district

         22  keeps all of its income, massive parking lots, they

         23  park tens of thousands of cars in parks in Chicago.

         24  There might be a temptation if you knew you could

         25  live or die based on the income from concessions to
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          2  exploit the parks at a much greater level for pure

          3  income.

          4                 And I think the way it works now is

          5  probably better, because we make the decisions on

          6  concessions based on is this good for the park, not

          7  on are we going to be able to clean the park if we

          8  don't get this money.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I know,

         10  again, in my district I've had discussions with a

         11  number of advocates with respect to naming rights

         12  for benches. Somewhere in the City of New York, do

         13  you actually sell the naming rights to benches?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It started in

         15  Central Park and now happens at few parks where

         16  people can buy a bench and put a little plaque on

         17  it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Right.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: They don't

         20  actually own the bench. What they're really doing is

         21  contributing to the upkeep of the park, and

         22  commemorating their long-time affiliation. Often

         23  it's a spouse to another spouse or in memory of a

         24  dead parent. It's something which is done on a large

         25  scale in some of the major parks. It's also
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          2  something that we offer through our marketing

          3  division in other parks. Really anybody could say

          4  I'd like to adopt a bench in memory of my mother,

          5  which is something I did, or adopt a bench to show

          6  my love for this park. And you can go that in any

          7  park. We can do that for you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And those

          9  revenues are not retained by the Parks Department

         10  either?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: They are. They

         12  are. Yes. But it's de minimis. In the overall scheme

         13  of things, it's probably not more than a few

         14  thousand dollars a year.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And of those 87

         16  percent of those contracts that are non-significant,

         17  but are non -- well, they are competitive. They're

         18  subject to a bid. How many of those, Ms. Simpson,

         19  are WMBEs?

         20                 MS. SIMPSON: I don't think we know

         21  that in terms of past awards. It's likely that a lot

         22  of them would be eligible, but since they're only

         23  serving as concessionaires, they probably haven't

         24  certified as MWBEs. The provisions of LL 129 don't

         25  apply to that setting. So, there would be no
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          2  incentive for a minority or a woman-owned company

          3  that happens to want to run small food concessions

          4  to certify.

          5                 So, it's really an issue we --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, Local Law

          7  129 doesn't apply to concessions and franchises?

          8                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, no, because the

          9  concept is one that relates primarily to the award

         10  of subcontracts, which aren't typically used in

         11  concessions or franchises. So, remember, the way in

         12  which LL 129 works, we look at the percentage of

         13  dollars that are received by a vendor.

         14                 Now, here, with concessions, the

         15  vendor is paying us, so it would be hard to do those

         16  computations, because it's really a different

         17  process.

         18                 That said, the FCRC rules do have a

         19  provision for outreach to minority and woman-owned

         20  companies, and I know that, you know, there have

         21  been efforts in the past that will continue to be

         22  expanded in terms of reaching out, particularly to

         23  small entrepreneurs. That is something that the

         24  Parks Department on their food operations has done,

         25  you know, throughout the years and done very well.
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          2  And, so, again, that's something where I think we

          3  could work with you on maybe improving our data

          4  collection. Because I think that's mostly what we're

          5  talking about is we don't have the data.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The other thing

          7  I'll just point out, Council member, is that

          8  probably the vast majority of our small

          9  entrepreneurs are recent immigrants, people who have

         10  just come to this country.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I was just

         12  going to ask that question. Of the 87 percent, how

         13  many of those represent the hotdog vendors?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's a large

         15  chunk. It's over 50 percent.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I would

         17  imagine of that 50 percent, most of those are

         18  immigrants.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's not just

         20  hotdog vendors, it's vendors of all kinds of

         21  different food. From the vendors of Red Hook, who

         22  are doing Central and South American food, to the

         23  dosa vendor in Washington Square Park.

         24                 The vendors tend to reflect the great

         25  diversity of this City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And in the

          3  Borough of Brooklyn, would it be fair to say that

          4  the vast majority of the concessions are Prospect

          5  Park?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No. There are a

          7  number of concessions in Prospect Park, but it's not

          8  the vast majority. Because there are a number of

          9  parks in Brooklyn and there are concessions

         10  throughout.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         12                 And of the 87 percent, would it be

         13  fair to say that a large majority of them are less

         14  than $100,000?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Less than

         17  $50,000?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Less than 20?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: You'll probably

         21  start to get a dividing line between ten and

         22  $20,000. Because it's the smallest vendors who are

         23  paying us three-, or four-thousand dollars a year.

         24  We have some hotdog carts paying $400,000 a year.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Interesting.
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          2                 So, again, I look forward to my

          3  vendor, my latte, my gilato --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: My Taste of

          6  Tropics Ice Cream at Fort Greene Park perhaps one

          7  day soon.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We will do our

          9  best to accommodate that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

         12  Sears. And I apologize because you were next but it

         13  was written wrong. And I didn't see that we had been

         14  joined by Council Member White, because he is in the

         15  corner.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: He's not really

         18  hiding, though. That's all right, I didn't mind

         19  having my colleague go first.

         20                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair. And

         21  it's very good to see you, Commissioner. Although

         22  you've heard it said that I didn't have any parks in

         23  my district, I have to tell you that I grew up using

         24  Coney Island. My kids learned to ride in those

         25  stables in Central Park. When they were busy I was
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          2  jogging in Riverside Park. I learned to play tennis

          3  in Astoria Park, listened to concerts in Cunningham

          4  Park, and continue to play up at City College in the

          5  parks there. So, we've utilized quite a bit of the

          6  parks, and I have a deep affection for them.

          7                 I just have three very, very brief

          8  questions. Some may be because it's my first

          9  meeting, and some may be just because they're based

         10  on what I've been listening to.

         11                 First question is, for the very large

         12  concessions, such as Terrace in the Park and Cafe on

         13  the Green, do they get separate water bills?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

         16                 Because the reason I ask that is for

         17  the hearing we had the other day with DEP and

         18  Finance and what is happening with it. The smaller

         19  concessions, I would assume that what they use is in

         20  their general -- what they pay annually?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I think all of

         22  the fixed concessions, all the fixed concessions are

         23  billed separately for the water. In fact, as far as

         24  I know, they're all up-to-date on their water bills.

         25  And this is one of the things that we can monitor.
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          2  DEP lets us know that they're not up-to-date, we can

          3  send them a notice to cure. They have to be, in

          4  addition to complying with all the terms and fees of

          5  the agreement, they have to obey all the other laws.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. That's

          7  fine, because I just wondered if they were

          8  up-to-date because we're dealing with those that

          9  haven't paid their water bills, believe it or not,

         10  going back as much as five years.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: They're

         12  up-to-date and we have someone devoted in the office

         13  just to following that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

         15  Thank you very much.

         16                 And I also think that, based on

         17  observations, there might be a misnomer about

         18  community boards and the communities. Because how

         19  much weight does a community board have in their

         20  advisory capacity? So, how much influence does that

         21  have on your decisions as to how these concessions

         22  are then awarded?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, the

         24  community board, in terms of City Charter the

         25  community boards, there are certain mandates to
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          2  review things for community boards. That includes

          3  capital projects, it includes some notifications on

          4  the concessions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: But we don't

          6  restrict our consultations to community boards,

          7  because while the community boards parks committees

          8  are valuable, some community boards don't even have

          9  a parks committee.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I know. That's

         11  why I asked the question.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: So, we really go

         13  well beyond that. That's why we work through the

         14  Parks just for parks on a regular basis with about

         15  2,000 civic groups and parks volunteer

         16  organizations, and there is a constant dialogue.

         17                 So, I would have to say we follow the

         18  Charter mandate in consulting with community boards,

         19  and find community boards to be quite helpful.

         20  Because sometimes there is a perfectly valid dispute

         21  about what should happen to a park. I'm thinking of

         22  down in the Village, Council Member Gerson's

         23  district, there is a group of citizens, taxpayers,

         24  who want to have a dog run in the playground.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: There's another

          3  equally vocal group that don't want to have the dog

          4  run. Each one has a valid opinion, but in this case

          5  the community board can sometimes be the synthesizer

          6  of those opinions.

          7                 So, I think the answer is, we listen

          8  to what the community boards and the Parks

          9  Committees have to say, but we don't think of that

         10  as the sole voice of the community, and we tend to

         11  work very closely with the active volunteers and

         12  participants in the lives of the parks.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: When you do

         14  send an RFP, a copy to the community board, do you

         15  really get a response?

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We sometimes get

         17  a response. It depends on the level of interest.

         18                 Sometimes we get a very detailed

         19  response, sometimes we get no response at all.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So you're doing

         21  that because you're mandated to do that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: And also because

         25  we do want to hear what they have to say, and we
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          2  attend all the community board Parks Committee

          3  meetings, we have ongoing dialogues.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are they

          5  mandated to have public hearings when they receive

          6  that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: They're not.

          9  See, I have a problem with that. Because then you're

         10  getting the input from the community board itself.

         11  And community boards, 59 of them, are not all very

         12  harmonious. And they become very polarized in their

         13  immediate segment of that board.

         14                 So, the fact that they're not

         15  mandated to hold a hearing on that, we may have to

         16  look at that, because that's not really and truly

         17  reaching out to the communities that are within

         18  their community board. You may be reaching out to

         19  civics that cover many communities and cross boards,

         20  and for the communities themselves, that could be a

         21  problem because just knowing in community boards

         22  around the City, I have yet to know where they have

         23  held very specific hearings on some concessions that

         24  are related to their parks.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It varies from
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          2  board-to-board.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I know. That's

          4  why I think it needs to be a little more specific,

          5  because there is the willingness to do it or not do

          6  it, and that's not really getting a feedback from

          7  the community, and if you are mandated by the

          8  Charter that has to go to the community board, and

          9  then they're not mandated to hold public hearings,

         10  it seems to me that that's kind of like taking one

         11  hand and taking away from the other.

         12                 To move on -- so I think we need to

         13  look at that. Just one other question. As you know,

         14  that in the Flushing Meadow Corona Park, all the

         15  lights went out the past year. And I was surprised,

         16  I think I wrote you a letter, about the fact, I

         17  think that might go up almost ten stories, if not

         18  more, correct me if I'm wrong, they do not have a

         19  generator. And as a result, anybody who happened to

         20  be in that elevator was, you know, I don't think it

         21  happened, but they would not be able to get out.

         22                 What is the ruling for a concession

         23  such as the size of the Terrace in the Park, how

         24  high it goes? And is it a ruling when you grant a

         25  concession like that, that they have a generator? It
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          2  seemed like there was some animal that got into

          3  their electric wire?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes, the

          5  unfortunate cat, which met its demise in the

          6  electrical circuit booth.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's very

          8  true. It caused enormous chaos that day.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes, it did.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And evening.

         11  Evening.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes, it was

         13  rather unfortunate. I think that was the day the

         14  Mayor was supposed to come.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That and also a

         16  huge banquet --

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: This was not a

         18  good day for the Parks Department.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: No, it wasn't.

         20                 So, tell me --

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: But the cat got

         22  the worst end of the deal.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:-- Has there

         24  been any changes in your thinking on that, knowing

         25  that you can't amend a concession contract?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Most of our

          3  concessions are ground level. But one of the

          4  provisions of the contracts, Marla, step in here if

          5  I don't get this right, is that they have to obey

          6  all the other applicable City rules and regulations

          7  - the Buildings Code and the Fire Code, access and

          8  egress. They get regularly inspected for that by the

          9  Fire Department. So, I think it's probably, look,

         10  they don't want to lose the business either. I think

         11  the idea that there should be an emergency generator

         12  for the Terrace in the Park is an excellent idea,

         13  and if it hasn't been installed since that incident,

         14  we'll make sure it is. That's also something --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm glad to

         16  hear that.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Absolutely, yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         19  Thank you very much.

         20                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         22                 We have an hour left. We are going to

         23  check to see if there is a hearing in here at 1:00.

         24  We're going to see if there is a hearing on the 16th

         25  floor, if there is, we're out of luck. So, what I'm
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          2  going to ask is for those, I notice we have people

          3  that are scheduled to testify that are from the same

          4  organization, if one person can represent the group,

          5  that would help. But if we are fortunate enough to

          6  be able to move to another room, then we'll

          7  obviously keep going and let everybody talk.

          8                 And I'm going to ask the colleagues

          9  that are remaining to keep their questions short,

         10  please.

         11                 Council Member White. Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you very

         13  much, Madam Chairperson.

         14                 Can you hear me?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Commissioner, I

         17  represent an area in the 28th Councilmanic District

         18  that has a very, very beautiful park. And the

         19  Assistant Commissioner Doty (phonetic) in the area

         20  has been doing a fantastic job, and collectively we

         21  are taking the paths out of the water. It's a

         22  natural habitat for ducks, geese and swans. We're

         23  lacking one thing, probably a lot but one that is

         24  very noticeable, and that is a beautiful concession

         25  to match the environment at the park, a display, you
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          2  know, with the lake and the ducks and people

          3  stopping to take their pictures from their wedding

          4  with the background of the lakes and the swans.

          5                 So, I would like to know how

          6  receptive, or can we have a meeting to discuss the

          7  possibility of the types of concessions that

          8  possibly could be viewed as a probability to put

          9  into the park.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We had spoken

         11  about this. I believe you're talking about Baisley

         12  Pond Park, which is a lovely park, along with the

         13  other wonderful parks in Southeast Queens.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: That is

         15  correct.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: You know, there

         17  is a variety of concessions and certainly if there

         18  is an interest in this community in having something

         19  with a cafe, there happens to be a great deal of

         20  land in the area, particularly in the extension, and

         21  we'd be happy to take a look at that, you know, talk

         22  to the community and the elected officials who

         23  represent the community.

         24                 As we mentioned, you weren't here at

         25  the beginning of my testimony, a number of the
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          2  concessions come not because the Parks Department

          3  decided it's a good idea, but because the local

          4  community would like to see something like this

          5  happen. The parks support group, as in Morningside

          6  Park, or local entrepreneurs see an opportunity to

          7  do something nice for the park. And certainly I

          8  think it would be nice to have something as nice as

          9  the Boathouse Cafe in Central Park in Baisley Pond

         10  Park. If that's something the community would like

         11  to see, that's really what we're here for, is to

         12  serve the community. And in the same way that

         13  Council Member James would like to see something in

         14  Fort Greene Park. We really respond to what it is

         15  the communities want. So, we'll be happy to meet

         16  with you on the site and see if there is a

         17  possibility of a place for which we could issue an

         18  RFP. I know that church groups are very active in

         19  that neighborhood, and they're going to go have

         20  brunch some place, at the Marriot, why not do it in

         21  a place that is a beautiful setting and also brings

         22  a nice amenity to the park and creates jobs and also

         23  tangentially brings some income to the City.

         24                 So, we would be happy to explore that

         25  possibility at your request.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I look forward

          3  to having that discussion, and I have had just a

          4  brief mentioning to the Chair of the Committee, and

          5  I would like to thank you for allowing me to ask the

          6  question, and I will be consulting with you, as well

          7  as with the Commissioner, to see what we can do.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Absolutely. That

         10  sounds like a great idea.

         11                 Believe it or not Alan Gerson has a

         12  question, and his staff member just told me he's on

         13  the way down. And we don't have the 16th floor

         14  because there is a hearing. Sorry, Alan. Thank you.

         15  We're going to go to our next panel. He'll probably

         16  catch you in the hall.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Or we could

         18  respond to the question in writing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We have a lively

         21  dialogue with Council Member Gerson.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, I know.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Thank you very

         24  much for your patience. I know it's pretty dry, some

         25  of this material.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, it was

          3  actually dry, but very interesting. Thank you.

          4                 We're going to go to our next panel.

          5  Again, for the people that are signed up together

          6  from one group, if we can have one representative.

          7                 We have Marcel Van Ooyen. George

          8  Bramwell. I think that's what it says. And Meryl

          9  Brodsky.

         10                 Is everybody here?

         11                 We can start in whatever order, left

         12  or right. How ever you want to go.

         13                 MS. BRODSKY: How are you?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm excellent.

         15  Thank you for asking.

         16                 MS. BRODSKY: I should say that there

         17  are other representatives from Dag Hammarskjold

         18  Plaza and that are very important to this. And I'm a

         19  district leader and not quite as important to this,

         20  so I defer to them in many respects.

         21                 I want to cover some of the

         22  groundwork you've already laid. Council Member

         23  Garodnick did a very good job, I think, of

         24  articulating some of the issues that have come up as

         25  recommendations on concessions, and what we've
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          2  already covered, the FCRC, as we discussed and

          3  briefly, the Franchise Concession Review Commission

          4  has implemented many policies right under our nose

          5  which we don't know about. As far as I know, the

          6  FCRC rule regarding significant concession is Rule

          7  1-02, and defined as one which we discuss is ten

          8  years or greater and income of no more than 100,000.

          9  There is no reason why that rule can't be amended to

         10  provide bidding processes for a concession on public

         11  land that is, in fact, a significant interest to the

         12  public and that be reviewed.

         13                 And I think incorporating some of the

         14  suggestions of Council Member Sears for mandatory

         15  Council hearings, Board hearings, Subcommittee

         16  hearings, which we do anyway, is entirely in order.

         17                 We didn't get a peep in when things

         18  were being taken out, pulled out of the rug or under

         19  from the grass or outside of a park. And we lost our

         20  concession of many, many years.

         21                 I'm getting to the questions. There

         22  is a very lengthy time, and a lot of paperwork that

         23  goes into concession review, which I think seriously

         24  should be considered. Doing business in the City is

         25  just too damn expensive and it starts with hotdog
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          2  stands. Nobody can stay in business if they have to

          3  pay the City upward of $5,000 on a total revenue of

          4  $10,000, which is I think what Mr. Benepe left out.

          5                 Therefore, I think we have to lower

          6  concession fees across the board, or seriously look

          7  into that possibility.

          8                 I think in our case we had the Dag

          9  site. None of the bidders, and there were four, and

         10  they were estimable, they were companies and

         11  franchises that we well know of, who have operated

         12  in this City before, were able to match the

         13  concession fees of the one person who won out on the

         14  bid. That person currently exists, is treated very

         15  cordially, it's a new company, and initially it was

         16  a stranger having followed a sequence of takeovers

         17  of concessions at that park. An owner that we did,

         18  in fact, feel had done great service for the park

         19  was, in fact, ousted. There was the Cafe Blue, there

         20  was the Patio Cafe and now we've got the New York

         21  Milk Shake Company.

         22                 All right, this all in a period of

         23  six or seven years. That's a short period and not

         24  enough time for a guy to make it at that park. The

         25  first shafted, Cafe Blue, didn't make it. The second
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          2  guy was doing very, very well, showing increases in

          3  his business each and every year.

          4                 The real toss up is whether or not

          5  the new person is going to prevail, and if he

          6  doesn't, all of the policy and rules and so forth

          7  that went into effect in helping us oust that

          8  person, are now going to actually give us the

          9  situation where we have no concession in the park,

         10  and we think it's necessary.

         11                 I did want to mention, although Mr.

         12  Benepe in his testimony said very fine things about

         13  the Comptroller's Office, it was the Comptroller, in

         14  this case, in the Dag site, that refused to register

         15  the contract, siting that the evaluation

         16  documentation, including the scores reflected in the

         17  summary rating sheet, reflect numerous

         18  inconsistencies and are often not supported by

         19  information provided by proposers.

         20                 Part of that application process is

         21  Vendex. It's very clear to me that Vendex

         22  applications typically don't include evidence of

         23  cronyism or patronage, and that easily they are

         24  sideswiped or sidestepped when somebody is writing

         25  out their application. They're not going to say that
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          2  their Council member took a substantial bribe to get

          3  them a concession in the park, and I'm thinking now

          4  only of Chicago and that these things don't happen

          5  in New York.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          7                 MS. BRODSKY: Okay, I'm sorry.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That's okay.

          9                 MS. BRODSKY: At any rate, in which

         10  case I think Vendex has to be looked at. I think

         11  there have been a number of complaints from Vendex

         12  from other agencies and that we should reevaluate it

         13  as in terms of trying to --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm going to need

         15  you to wrap up. We just put the clock on. But

         16  everybody will have the clock, because we've got to

         17  be out of here by 1:00.

         18                 MS. BRODSKY: Thank you very much for

         19  hearing this. I want to defer to at least one or two

         20  other people from my organization, in which I'm a

         21  board member, and thank each and every one of you

         22  for coming today and sharing with us your ideas of

         23  having a wonderful space and park in this City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And if the one or

         25  two people can get together and have one person give
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          2  all their thoughts, I would appreciate it. Or you

          3  can testify and then be cut off, because we have to

          4  be out of here at 1:00. But what would really be

          5  great is if you have written testimony, you can

          6  leave it with the Committee and we will read it.

          7  Either way.

          8                 MR. VAN OOYEN: Hello, everyone. My

          9  name is Marcel Van Ooyen. I'm the Executive Director

         10  of Council on the Environment, which is a non-profit

         11  in the Mayor's Office. We have a number of programs.

         12  One that's most applicable to the hearing today is

         13  the Greenmarket Farmers Markets. We operate 21 of

         14  our 45 markets in New York City parks. You can read

         15  through the testimony, I won't expand upon it too

         16  much.

         17                 I will summarize by saying that it's

         18  extremely important for a green market to have an

         19  association with the Parks Department. In fact,

         20  Adrian Benepe's father, Barry Benepe, was the

         21  founder of Green Market Program, so parks provide a

         22  wonderful place for us to operate. They fit within

         23  our mission. They allow customers a beautiful place

         24  to shop and buy hot apple cider, like Fort Greene

         25  Park on Saturdays. So, you know, we're very happy
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          2  with our relationship with the Parks Department and

          3  are having our Green Markets at parks and we hope to

          4  expand it.

          5                 And I'm joined today by Michael

          6  Hurowitz, who is the Director of the Green Market

          7  Program in the back, so if you want a green market

          8  in your Council district, he is the man to talk to.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Where is

         11  Michael? Oh, okay.

         12                 MR. VAN OOYEN: And I'll be happy to

         13  answer any questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         15                 MR. BRAMWELL: I want to thank the

         16  Council members for holding this hearing, for

         17  allowing me to appear.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Could you

         19  introduce yourself, please.

         20                 MR. BRAMWELL: Yes. I represent the

         21  Green Belt Conservancy from Staten Island, New York.

         22  We operate the Carousel for all children in

         23  Willowbrook Park.

         24                 The Conservancy is a non-profit

         25  organization that was founded in 1989 to partner
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          2  with Parks in managing the largest urban park in

          3  America, the Green Belt.

          4                 During the nineties, we realized we

          5  did not have a carousel on Staten Island that was

          6  operative. There had been previous ones but they

          7  were not in operation. We looked at Prospect Park,

          8  and my good friend Tupper Thomas is the Director,

          9  and we decided to go to the Borough President, at

         10  the time Guy Molinari, and he said, well, I can get

         11  you $2 million in capital funds, but you have to

         12  raise a $3,000 maintenance fund, because he said I

         13  want the carousel to be pristine.

         14                 We raised the funds. We operate the

         15  carousel. After paying our fees to the Parks

         16  Department, it goes to the General Revenue Fund. We

         17  generally have about two- to six-thousand dollars a

         18  year. We use that for programs in the Green Belt,

         19  and as you know, we're very active in environmental

         20  education.

         21                 So, our partnership with Parks has

         22  been just fine. And we hope that that will continue.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Any questions?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Just a point.

          4                 Ma'am, thank you for the distinction

          5  between the City Council of Chicago and the City

          6  Council.

          7                 Let me just say that I support

          8  Council Member Garodnick's -- I would imagine

          9  legislation might be coming up, to marketize this

         10  process and to give the community boards and the

         11  City Council some community involvement as we

         12  empower them. In the area that you laid out, I don't

         13  want that to happen in Fort Greene.

         14                 And to Marcel, obviously I want to

         15  have a discussion with you. You do a wonderful job

         16  at Fort Greene Park. I know want it at the other

         17  end, at the Clinton Hills/Bedford Stuyvesant part,

         18  which actually is Council Member Vann, but the

         19  residents of public housing desperately need a green

         20  market as well.

         21                 MR. VAN OOYEN: Just real quickly,

         22  we'd love to talk to you about that. We're always

         23  looking for new locations.

         24                 And we operate another program that's

         25  quite interesting, which is called "Youth Markets,"
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          2  where we take kids from the community and we train

          3  them to run their own little farm stand and we pay

          4  them, you know, a stipend to do so.

          5                 And we found that that works in many

          6  communities even better, because the farmers, unless

          7  they're making a certain income, we can't force them

          8  to be there, but the kids, you know, learn how to

          9  run a small business. They have ties to the

         10  community, and it helps them basically bring in

         11  customers, because they know and live in the

         12  community. So, we'll be happy to talk to you about

         13  that as well.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         15                 And the reference to FCRC got me

         16  nervous, I thought it stood for Forest City Ratner.

         17  But it doesn't. It stands for somebody else. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I have a quick

         20  question for you, Marcel.

         21                 Do the green markets work with local

         22  community gardeners to have their products sold at a

         23  green market.

         24                 MR. VAN OOYEN: Our rules don't allow

         25  that. You have to own a farm in order to do that,
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          2  and since most of the community gardens are owned by

          3  the Parks Department through GreenThumb. We do have

          4  a gardening program that works with community

          5  gardeners to help basically renovate and build new

          6  gardens, and we are actually working with Just Food,

          7  which is another organization that does that on a

          8  site in Brooklyn, which is a grow garden, much like

          9  they have in East New York farms. Where people who

         10  live in a community could grow and then they sell,

         11  but then we often help them pair our farmers up with

         12  those types of markets. So, not directly, but

         13  indirectly we run those programs.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         15                 Our next panel is Christian DiPalermo

         16  from New Yorkers for Parks; Amy Gavaris from New

         17  York Restoration; and Geoffrey Croft from New York

         18  Advocates.

         19                 I think Amy left, so why don't we add

         20  to that panel, is Barry Klein still here? Yes? Why

         21  don't you join this panel and it will be three.

         22                 Thanks, you can get started.

         23                 MR. DiPALERMO: Hi. Good afternoon. My

         24  name is Christian DiPalmero. I am the Executive

         25  Director of New Yorkers for Parks. I want to begin
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          2  by thanking Chairwoman Foster and Speaker Quinn and

          3  the rest of the Council for holding such an

          4  important hearing. I believe this is long overdue,

          5  so I appreciate that we are finally having it.

          6                 In the interest of time, because we

          7  are handing in testimony, I would say there are

          8  three main points that New Yorkers for Parks would

          9  like to make today.

         10                 A point that we've been making for

         11  the last five plus years, it's time to allow parks

         12  to keep what they earn. That would be number one

         13  point.

         14                 Number two point is, and I think

         15  we've heard a lot of it today, improve the public

         16  process, and then revise the concession rules.

         17                 Regarding to allow Parks to keep what

         18  they earn, we just did a study with the Citizens'

         19  Budget Commission, a very detailed study, and the

         20  Parks Department cooperated on it, and it came out

         21  with some good recommendations.

         22                 One of the most important

         23  recommendations was to create a stronger incentive

         24  for increasing concessions and other earned

         25  revenues, by dividing growth in these revenues
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          2  between the City's General Fund, and a new fund

          3  dedicated to parks improvement.

          4                 I would like to remind the Council

          5  and others present here, there used to be a bill in

          6  the City Council which 32 Council members signed

          7  that agreed to allow Parks to keep its concession.

          8  Here we're saying, all right, let's compromise.

          9  Let's just keep the growth, and all of you want

         10  concessions, just now we have issues with how they

         11  are issued and what the public process is, but we

         12  think they're good. So, I think we have to take that

         13  step. It's already happening. Randall's Island

         14  Sports Foundation allows to keep their concession.

         15  The Central Park Conservancy allows to keep a

         16  portion of their concession. Bryant Park is keeping

         17  it. Why can't other parks in other boroughs?

         18                 Improve the public process. I think

         19  what we're hearing today is, look, let's have a

         20  public hearing that makes sense. And we should be

         21  mandating public hearings before a concession goes

         22  forward. We all deal with bureaucracy every day and

         23  a notice coming in the mail is insufficient. I think

         24  we really need to have a public hearing and make

         25  sure that at least we know what is going to happen
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          2  and people have had an opportunity to comment.

          3                 Revising the concession rules. One of

          4  the primary gaps in the major concession rules deals

          5  with the amount of space occupied by the concession.

          6  Rather than measuring a concession's impact by the

          7  percentage of the park property that it will use,

          8  the major concession will look at the acreage of the

          9  concession.

         10                 So, for an example, an 11,000 square

         11  foot building in a park is not considered a major

         12  concession, regardless of the park size. Well, if

         13  you're a one-acre park, it matters.

         14                 Finally, you know, assessing the

         15  impact. We're not saying you have to go to ULURP

         16  every time, but what's the impact to the community?

         17  What's the impact to the environment?

         18                 Common sense can lead us a long way

         19  with concessions. I think it begins by the Council

         20  taking the leadership and allowing Parks to keep

         21  that, keep the concession money, the growth in it.

         22  Let's make it an incentive. It will be a more

         23  efficient management of good government. It's not

         24  bad policy, it's good government. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. CROFT: Good afternoon. My name is

          3  Geoffrey Croft. I am President of NYC Park

          4  Advocates. I wanted to thank this Committee and this

          5  is definitely long and overdue, and I was happy to

          6  hear that this will be one of a few, I think you

          7  started off with, which is great. There are many,

          8  many issues involving concessions that have not been

          9  brought up, so we definitely look forward to the

         10  future.

         11                 One thing that I just wanted to

         12  mention is what happens when a community does not

         13  want a concession? We get lots of calls about that,

         14  and most of the dialogue today has not been centered

         15  around that. And as we've heard time and time again,

         16  there is no community-based consultation, there is

         17  no community-based planning, with most park issues

         18  that are going on, which is a huge problem in New

         19  York City.

         20                 A lot of communities feel that some

         21  of these concessions are being shoved down the

         22  community's throat and that is a major problem. So,

         23  what happens when a community does not want it? A

         24  few examples is the Randalls Island Water Park. The

         25  cancellation of the contract did not happen out of
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          2  some enlightened public policy. The concessionaire,

          3  you know, could not finance the project.

          4                 Another problem that's coming up in

          5  that is that these are being spunned from the

          6  current Administration as economic development

          7  projects. They're not park jobs that are being

          8  created.

          9                 These are private sector jobs, and

         10  who is analyzing what is appropriate on public

         11  parkland?  Is a water park, is a private beach club

         12  acceptable to public land? We definitely feel it

         13  will not.

         14                 Ferry Point Park is another

         15  boondoggle that is happening. Union Square Park, the

         16  community, again, is vehemently opposed to a private

         17  concession taking over a historic pavilion there.

         18  One of the main reasons is because that community

         19  board has the lowest amount of playground space of

         20  any community board in New York City, and the

         21  highest concentration of restaurants, but yet this

         22  Administration is again trying to force a concession

         23  down that community's throat and it doesn't seem to

         24  matter, how much a community comes out against a

         25  project. These wishes are not being taken into
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          2  consideration. That is a major problem and we

          3  definitely look forward to it.

          4                 And just to use again two quotes from

          5  the Parks Commissioner, which we were happy to hear

          6  his words and phrases, but they're not ringing true,

          7  is it good for a park, that is a direct quote from

          8  his testimony today, "... and we really respond to

          9  what the community wants." That's simply not

         10  accurate. And concessions when run properly and

         11  planned properly provide a very important amenity to

         12  a park, and when they are not, the opposite is true.

         13                 One last point I would like to make,

         14  or two last points, is the Commissioner spoke of the

         15  Comptroller's Office monitoring some of these

         16  issues.

         17                 The Comptroller issued a very

         18  poignant report a couple of years ago, based on the

         19  concessions not being on the capital projects, not

         20  being properly monitored, and the City was being

         21  shortchanged millions of dollars.

         22                 The Parks Department needs

         23  inspectors, and that also has to come from, of

         24  course, greater allocations from the City Council,

         25  and that's something that we're very, very concerned
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          2  about.

          3                 One question that -- I mean, they

          4  only have a few inspectors, so these issues are

          5  coming up time and time again.

          6                 Last point, it's a very slippery

          7  slope to allow the concessions dedicated revenue

          8  from concessions to go into parks. Just I'm throwing

          9  that out there. That's something that needs to be

         10  discussed at much greater length because there is a

         11  tendency to rely on these funds.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 MR. KLEIN: Thank you. My name is

         14  Barry Klein. I'm here representing Assemblyman Bing.

         15  I'm just going to read his testimony into the

         16  record, if that's okay.

         17                 I am Assemblymember Jonathan Bing,

         18  and I represent the 73rd Assembly District on

         19  Manhattan's Upper East Side in East Midtown.

         20                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         21  testify today regarding the process by which

         22  concessions are currently selected by the New York

         23  City Parks Department.

         24                 Having witnessed the process up

         25  close, in the case of awarding the concession at Dag
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          2  Hammarskjold Plaza at 47th Street and First Avenue

          3  in my district, I believe that there is a need for a

          4  new approach. The City grants franchises and

          5  concessions in accordance with Chapter 14 of the

          6  City Charter and the rules proscribed by the

          7  Franchise and Concession Review Committee.

          8                 The Mayor's Office of Contract

          9  Services oversees and certifies agency compliance

         10  with the applicable laws and regulations for

         11  franchises and concessions.

         12                 The rules for competitive sealed bids

         13  are actually delineated in Title 12 of the rules of

         14  the City of New York, and they provide the criteria

         15  to be used in evaluating proposals and making

         16  decisions.

         17                 These criteria are meant to be

         18  tailored to reach request for proposal, and their

         19  relative importance is left to the broad discretion

         20  of agency officials.

         21                 In addition to projected revenue to

         22  the City, other evaluation criteria that may apply

         23  to a particular concession are technical excellence,

         24  experience, qualifications and any other relevant

         25  factors.
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          2                 After the evaluation criteria have

          3  been determined, and the relative importance

          4  decided, each factor is then compared to the others

          5  and assigned a weight.

          6                 This framework, unfortunately, allows

          7  for significant amount of subjectivity and license

          8  to stack the deck in the favor of one applicant,

          9  vis-a-vis another.

         10                 Unfortunately, this arbitrariness is

         11  precisely what I saw on the case of the concession

         12  at Dag Hammarskjold Plaza. In this case, Patio Cafe

         13  held the permit for operating the concession at Dag

         14  Hammarskjold Plaza for three years prior to an RFP

         15  being sent out by the Parks Department.

         16                 During those years, Patio Cafe was an

         17  ideal tenant that provided well-appreciated service

         18  and contributed to the area's needs. Ultimately, the

         19  Parks Department decided to bring in a new tenant

         20  based on its established criteria and scoring. While

         21  no occupant should be guaranteed a renewal of their

         22  permit, a review of the rating sheet used by the RFP

         23  evaluators reflected numerous inconsistencies that

         24  were not supported by the facts provided in the

         25  RFPs.
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          2                 Foremost among them was the fact that

          3  a vendor with 16 years of experience and one with

          4  three years of experience received the exact same

          5  rating for operating experience and both received a

          6  higher rating than a vendor that had been in

          7  business since 1952.

          8                 The financial component of the

          9  evaluation process offers another glaring instance

         10  where the ratings fly in the face of reality.

         11                 One applicant that had previously

         12  failed in a very similar operation elsewhere, and

         13  was the only one of the applicants to rely on

         14  personal assets, compared to established business

         15  assets, received a higher rating than two other

         16  applicants.

         17                 In addition, the Patio Cafe

         18  remarkably received the lowest score of all four

         19  applicants for the capital improvements criteria,

         20  even though it had already spent thousands of

         21  dollars during the length of its contract to make

         22  significant, long-term enhancements to this

         23  concession.

         24                 These instances of clearly arbitrary

         25  ratings were so egregious that the New York City
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          2  Comptroller's Office initially refused to register

          3  the license agreement.

          4                 As I have established, the process by

          5  which awarding of permits is flawed, open to

          6  manipulation, and must be amended. All City agencies

          7  have responsibility to the citizens of New York and

          8  the vendors who seek to operate concessions, that

          9  the agencies will rate proposals in a consistent,

         10  fair and objective manner.

         11                 I encourage you to address this

         12  serious loophole and minimize the possibility of

         13  ratings that are arbitrary and capricious.

         14                 Thank you for your time and

         15  consideration.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

         17  Sears.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.

         20                 I just wanted to make a comment as

         21  you address returning the concession monies to the

         22  park. The reason that I have a problem with that,

         23  and always have, has been the fact that most of the

         24  concession money going back to the parks, for those

         25  who have the largest revenue from the parks would
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          2  look to see that those monies are returned to those

          3  parks.

          4                 For those communities that do not

          5  have parks, they've got concrete slabs, they don't

          6  have concessions, and they get very shortchanged as

          7  it is, and particularly in my district I provide so

          8  much capital money just to get and, you know, amend

          9  those problems.

         10                 So, those playgrounds, unless you can

         11  look at exactly how you correct that, the

         12  playgrounds would be very shortchanged because

         13  you're addressing parks and parks only. And if you

         14  look at all 59 community boards in this City of New

         15  York, there are many that do not have green parks.

         16                 MR. CROFT: I was just going to say,

         17  that is definitely part of the issue.

         18                 When you look at a park like Central

         19  Park, which is surrounded by per capita the

         20  wealthiest inhabitants on the face of the planet,

         21  when you look at the type of events, marketing

         22  events, and the type of concessions, that is exactly

         23  correct. That's not happening in the South Bronx, in

         24  East New York, and a myriad of other communities.

         25                 One image I photographed last year
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          2  was happening in the Wallman Rink and there was a

          3  marketing event that had to do with antique cars,

          4  multi-million dollar Ferraris and all these things.

          5  I can guarantee you, that stuff is not happening in

          6  99.9 percent of the parks.

          7                 So, again, we are creating a park

          8  system of the have and the have-nots and that's a

          9  problem.

         10                 MR. DiPALERMO: I think, and we're

         11  going to get you the Citizens' Commission's Budget

         12  study, and you'll read in more detail, what we're

         13  calling for is take the growth in concession

         14  revenue, put some of it in the General Fund. And

         15  then the other, it doesn't stay at the exact park.

         16  We're talking a redistribution to playgounds in your

         17  district and throughout.

         18                 You know, we have to stop looking at

         19  it park-by-park, neighborhood-by-neighborhood. It's

         20  a park system, and some areas are going to attract

         21  more concessions than other areas. The market is

         22  going to speak, and that's what's going to happen.

         23                 And so what you do is, you take the

         24  money, this happens on the national parks level, for

         25  example; some money stays at the Grand Canyon and
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          2  the other is redistributed to parks that don't get

          3  visited as much as the Grand Canyon. So that's what

          4  we're talking about.

          5                 We're not talking about just because

          6  you have the concession you're going to keep that.

          7  That's what's happening right now. That's what we

          8  can't tolerate, because that creates the two-tiered

          9  system.

         10                 So, if you redistribute that because

         11  you know there's certain park properties that can

         12  make that kind of concession, then you can address

         13  your issue.

         14                 MR. CROFT: Parks also --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Wait. Wait.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You want us to

         17  end this --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, I do.

         19  Please.

         20                 MR. DiPALERMO: We'll be happy to come

         21  back.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: We'll discuss

         23  it later.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

         25  James has a brief something.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Very brief.

          3                 Mr. DiPalermo, I'd like to see the

          4  report. I agree that we should redesign the

          5  financing, and I believe a larger portion should go

          6  back to parks and it should be redistributed.

          7                 Mr. Bing -- not Mr. Bing. You're not

          8  Assemblymember Bing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Klein.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You're

         11  representing Mr. Bing.

         12                 Mr. Klein, my question to you is, I

         13  recognize we have to improve the public process. I

         14  also recognize that the public needs to have a

         15  greater voice in the whole process with respect to

         16  concessions. My question to you is, does ULURP get

         17  at that, since ULURP is primarily focused on Land

         18  Use and not the business decisions with respect to

         19  and/or the criteria and the rating of these

         20  concessions?

         21                 MR. KLEIN: I can't say I'm prepared

         22  to get into the realities and the intricacies of

         23  ULURP. We were really more focused on what we saw

         24  happen in the particular case and how open it is to,

         25  you know, the flaws that we've seen. And, so, I
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          2  really just want to speak to that and leave it at

          3  that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No, I

          5  understand. It's just that the flaws, obviously,

          6  were pointed out by the Vendex system through the

          7  Comptroller's Office, and I hear a number of people

          8  talking about the ULURP process, but the ULURP

          9  process has its limitations. So, obviously we need

         10  to engage in a somewhat objective criteria selection

         11  process. I agree with you and the public needs to be

         12  involved. And I don't know whether or not ULURP is

         13  the correct process or some version thereof perhaps.

         14  But I'd like to talk to you further about that

         15  later.

         16                 MR. KLEIN: Sure.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         19                 Our next panel is Brad Taylor,

         20  Sherill Kazan. Sherill Kazan, am I saying that

         21  right?

         22                 MS. KAZAN: Kazan.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Kazan.

         24                 Robin Marsico. You guys didn't

         25  combine, huh? Ann Saxon-Hersh. Can we pull up
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          2  another chair?

          3                 MS. MARSICO: I will just add --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You'll say ditto?

          5                 MS. MARSICO: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. Lights,

          7  someone. Thank you. Just start in whatever order.

          8                 MR. TAYLOR: Hi. My name is Brad

          9  Taylor. I'm the President of the Friends of

         10  Morningside Park. My perspective here is just coming

         11  from me and our experience working with the Parks

         12  Department, but I think it is an important one,

         13  because when we talk about this informal process and

         14  working with community groups, we have firsthand

         15  experience doing that with the Parks Department.

         16                 And, so, when you hear that Parks

         17  doesn't listen to community groups, and you hear

         18  sort of a general claim like that, I think from our

         19  experience we can tell you that they do work with

         20  us, they work with us closely, and we have worked

         21  with them on a concession in Morningside Park and

         22  we're working with them to try and revitalize that.

         23  And it's an important part of our mission to

         24  revitalize Morningside Park, and I have to say the

         25  Parks Department has been more than willing to sit
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          2  down with us on any number of occasions, almost on a

          3  daily basis we're in contact with Commissioner

          4  Castro, at least on the park in all sorts of

          5  aspects, but one of them certainly is the

          6  concessions.

          7                 So, there is a lot of back and forth

          8  with the Parks Department, in terms of our

          9  organization and what we're seeing. So, I would have

         10  to contradict some of the sort of generalized

         11  statements.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I would wonder

         13  how much that has to do with the fact that you're

         14  and up and coming park, as opposed to a park that's

         15  already been established and has generated the

         16  support.

         17                 I mean, right now their interest in

         18  you is probably because you have the interest in the

         19  park, and as you said, you wanted to come back, as

         20  opposed to a park that is back, so that might play a

         21  role into why you're getting a little more attention

         22  or feel like you're --

         23                 MR. TAYLOR: I think that's a good

         24  point, and certainly it sort of comes from the

         25  energy of the volunteers and absolutely there's a
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          2  lot of energy around Morningside Park and our group

          3  and so I think they feel that, and we're always

          4  there pushing on them.

          5                 But I'd like to point out two

          6  specific instances. One is, in 2001, the Department

          7  of Parks and Recreation attracted bids for the first

          8  cafe in Morningside Park, the winning bidder was a

          9  local woman and minority-owned business, a Harlem

         10  entrepreneur.  The resulting Muscoota Cafe was a

         11  welcome symbol of renewal in a park that had been

         12  under-served for very many years, as we all know.

         13                 In 2005, the Department of Parks and

         14  Recreation was an eager partner in helping us start

         15  a farmers' market. And I would like to just comment

         16  on this specifically, because we heard about the

         17  sole source green market system that operates, but

         18  in our case, our location was actually turned down

         19  by Green Markets. We turned to the Parks Department

         20  and said we really wanted to do this thing, can you

         21  help us here? We found another market manager and I

         22  think it's one of the very few markets in the City

         23  that is not managed by the Green Markets and it's in

         24  its third successful year.

         25                 So, I just wanted to point out that
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          2  even when there is a sole source thing, if it's not

          3  working out for some reason, they are willing to

          4  work with us and listen to us.

          5                 MS. KAZAN: Good afternoon. Thank you

          6  for this hearing. I'm Sherrill Kazan, the President

          7  of Friends of Dag Hammarskjold Plaza, the gateway to

          8  the United Nations, and we are a volunteer

          9  organization, a 501(c)(3).

         10                 I just want to, before I say what I

         11  had scripted, in reference to what Councilman

         12  Garodnick and was said previously, we engaged in a

         13  lawsuit against Parks because of all that you have

         14  heard previously with the cafe situation. And the

         15  one that was so disturbing, the result of it, not

         16  that we did not win, of course, but we were declared

         17  that we had no standing, which means we don't count.

         18  And, obviously, what you heard here today we all

         19  count. We do count, and perhaps that's what really

         20  has to be, as has been said, to be really looked

         21  into and improve this kind of dialogue between Parks

         22  and the community groups like us.

         23                 So, the no standing, we would like to

         24  declare that null and void by the judge, even though

         25  we don't have any legal process to do that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Higher authority.

          3                 MS. KAZAN: Higher authority, right.

          4                 But I also want to say that in terms

          5  of the -- I take something a little personally, I'll

          6  take a moment. I'm the person when the cafe was

          7  first established in our park, and of course, we're

          8  so grateful for that opportunity, I found the first

          9  vendors, the young entrepreneurs who have

         10  experience, were very successful previously, did not

         11  work out. Failed. And then I approached Hospitality

         12  Holdings, they were the Patio Cafe, that we were

         13  referencing before, and of course, they took up a

         14  failed lease, and were very successful. They had the

         15  experience, the financial wherewithal. This has

         16  nothing to do with Milk Shake. This was what the

         17  process had been.

         18                 And because they took up a failed

         19  lease, we all felt that they deserved to really be

         20  reconsidered when it came to the process to

         21  understand where their RFP was standing and why and

         22  why not. They wanted to actually improve, as may be

         23  explained further, improve the, how you say the size

         24  of the location and footprint of the location. I

         25  always envisioned that to be as European-style cafe,
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          2  open 12 months of the year. We don't have that. And,

          3  so, it's a challenge to anyone who would be there,

          4  and for the revenue to the City, obviously that

          5  would have improved and still will improve, if we

          6  had a 12-month cafe. Once it's raining or cold, we

          7  don't really have access to that place.

          8                 But what I really want to say as

          9  well, we raised money through member contributions,

         10  grants and request for local public officials. We

         11  are both a conservancy organization and an

         12  organization that produces cultural and educational

         13  programs on DHB for public enjoyment and

         14  edification.

         15                 As we spend so much time and

         16  resources to fund the basic maintenance of the

         17  Plaza, collecting garbage, cleaning and repairing

         18  the fountains, repairing stone work, power washing,

         19  concrete, watching out for public safety and

         20  security so our stake in concession reform is

         21  multitude, and that in particular, as has been

         22  expressed by so many, the awarding of a concession,

         23  the presentation of the RFPs, the process of

         24  evaluation should be logical, detailed, and readily

         25  available to the public.
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          2                 Furthermore, a percentage of

          3  concession revenue should be allocated to support

          4  the maintenance of the park in which it is situated.

          5  We should not discourage other parks in receiving

          6  funds, of course not, but if we have a concession,

          7  as had been stated previously, we should benefit

          8  from those incomes. And especially if we are

          9  organizing, have the 501(c)(3), which we do have.

         10                 Ideally, in the case of Friends, as

         11  we are the 501(c)(3) that manages the maintenance,

         12  beautification and programming of the park, such

         13  revenue would be allocated to us, as is the case

         14  with some other park conservancy groups in New York

         15  City at Central Park. And because these other parks

         16  have these contracts, we simply would like this to

         17  be a uniform process, and I think if the park group

         18  meets the criteria.

         19                 Well, this is the most important

         20  thing that I want to say, but the funds should

         21  really enable the parks to have adequate personnel

         22  to carry out its mandate. And for example, there

         23  should be one uniformed trained park worker on site

         24  in every park every day, especially towards the

         25  evening.
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          2                 Even though we are a very well

          3  trafficked park, and we have so many, you know,

          4  different events there, you would be surprised that

          5  towards the evening we have been lucky so far,

          6  because we, ourselves, police the park, but it would

          7  be really important to have someone with experience

          8  there. We have skateboarders, cyclists who have

          9  endangered the elderly public and this has been an

         10  ongoing problem. That is why also we have art, very

         11  experienced beautiful sculpture on the platform on

         12  Second Avenue, which not only beautifies the park,

         13  but also has prevented the skateboarders from

         14  jumping down those stairs.

         15                 So, recognizing that we service the

         16  community's needs, we expect the Department of Parks

         17  to respect our crucial partnership and to consult us

         18  on matters affect Dag Hammarskjold Plaza by

         19  responding to our queries and ensuring the

         20  appropriate follow-up in a timely fashion.

         21                 If Friends walked away from this

         22  park, I guarantee you, it would collapse and revert

         23  to what it was ten years ago, an unusable waste of

         24  public space, and the Katherine Hepburn Garden,

         25  which is parallel to the Plaza, would be full of

                                                            147

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  construction debris. And we still have that problem

          3  even today, but we are on top of it.

          4                 Our intent is to further develop our

          5  existing working relationship with the Department of

          6  Parks and a collaborative constructive, efficient

          7  manner to better service the community and New York

          8  City at large.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm going to need

         10  you to wrap up.

         11                 MS. KAZAN: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Especially if you

         13  two are going to chime in.

         14                 MS. KAZAN: I just want to say one

         15  thing. I released a book for the United Nations for

         16  climate change, how it impacts us all, and our City

         17  officials who represent our area have submitted a

         18  page, it's so important to the 3,000 people who came

         19  to work on these issues, but Mayor Bloomberg and

         20  Commissioner Benepe submitted a letter that's very

         21  close to what we are talking about, how they intend

         22  to beautify the area with green space and so forth,

         23  and we must support sustainable urban environment,

         24  but we must maintain what we already have by

         25  preventive maintenance and the funds should go to
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          2  make sure this happens. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 MS. SAXON-HERSH: I'll just say a few

          5  words.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Please. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 MS. SAXON-HERSH: And augment what my

          9  colleague and president has said.

         10                 My name is Anne Saxon-Hersh, and I

         11  have served as Director of Friends of Dag

         12  Hammarskjold Plaza since it's inception in 1993, and

         13  one of the organization's founder and served as

         14  president for ten years. I am currently Director of

         15  Development and Chair of the Garden Committee.

         16                 From day one I have pursued funds for

         17  our organization and I'm keenly aware of our costs

         18  and expenditures.

         19                 Now, back in 1991/'92, when the City

         20  was under great fiscal stress, Dag Hammarskjold

         21  Plaza was right in front of me. I lived in a

         22  building facing the park, and you did not want to go

         23  into that park. Despite the fact that this was the

         24  gateway to the United Nations, the presumably

         25  luxurious east side, that park was a huge liability.
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          2  And thanks to the Turtle Bay community and to

          3  Community Board 6 and our elected officials, we

          4  prevailed upon the City to completely rebuild,

          5  reconstruct and expand the park, which is now 1.5

          6  acres, which got a garden for the extra half an acre

          7  that was added on.

          8                 And from the beginning, we agreed to

          9  this partnership agreement that has now become a

         10  kind of philanthropical thrust and a very important

         11  part of the Park system in the City, in terms of

         12  maintaining its parks. And we stepped into that

         13  partnership, even before the park was built, because

         14  people were afraid that the City wouldn't maintain

         15  the park. They said they can't and you're just

         16  making it nice for the bums. So, in order to shore

         17  up support, we formed Friends, even before the park

         18  was built.

         19                 And since that time we felt we were

         20  partners with the parks. Our relationships were

         21  good, and we had a great deal of dialogue.

         22                 So, when it came time for this

         23  business with the cafe, we were completely

         24  unprepared for the way that it was handled, and I

         25  won't go into the details that our State Assemblyman
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          2  already has put forth, the inconsistencies in the

          3  process, but we were blindsighted. And, yes, we were

          4  asked what we felt about it, and we told clerks how

          5  we felt, but it meant nothing because the end result

          6  was the same.

          7                 And even in court we were treated as

          8  miscreants, we were treated as busy-bodies, when in

          9  fact the Comptroller supported pretty much every

         10  single one of our concerns. So, there is a problem

         11  there that needs to be looked into.

         12                 I want to now speak to where we go

         13  from here.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You've got 16

         15  seconds.

         16                 MS. SAXON-HERSH: Thanks. If groups

         17  like ours are going to be partners in the parks,

         18  then either parks has to have the wherewithal, the

         19  budget, to do more of their share, because right now

         20  we're doing the bulk of the essential services which

         21  the City should provide, and we're doing this all as

         22  volunteers. We've raised the money and we've

         23  contracted a lot of this back out again. If we're

         24  going to do all of that work, we should have more of

         25  an administrative voice.
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          2                 If we're not going to do that work,

          3  then the City must have the money either through

          4  these concessions or by awarding more funds to

          5  parks, and you can't expect a bureaucrat to bite the

          6  hand that feeds it. So, it's for us to say, we don't

          7  have enough park workers on the ground, and now that

          8  this park is eight years old --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I really need you

         10  to --

         11                 MS. SAXON-HERSH: I promise to finish

         12  it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, like, I

         14  really need you to end, please.

         15                 MS. SAXON-HERSH: The infrastructure

         16  is beginning to show signs of wear and tear.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I still have nine

         18  more people to testify.

         19                 MS. SAXON-HERSH: And I leave with you

         20  these pictures of what the City needs to be looking

         21  at, in terms of where Dag Hammarskjold Plaza is

         22  going to go from here.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         25                 Thank you very much. I appreciate it.
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          2  And if you have anything written, you can submit it

          3  to me and the Committee.

          4                 Our next panel is Paul Bellam, Gary

          5  Papush.

          6                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Paul Bellam

          7  left.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. Papush.

          9  John. Did John leave? John. We have two more chairs.

         10  Okay, you're going to have to help me with this.

         11  Kadasamy.

         12                 MR. PHLOUKUMAR: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What am I

         14  supposed to be saying? Because it's not right.

         15                 MR. PHLOUKUMAR: Kadasamy.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Kadasamy. And

         17  Michael O'Neal, are you still here?

         18                 MR. O'NEAL: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Madam

         21  Chair?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair. I just really wanted to say one word as

         25  a follow-up to that last panel, which is, you know,
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          2  those were joint testimony from representatives of

          3  Dag Hammarskjold Plaza, Dag Hammarskjold Park, and I

          4  really just wanted to recognize their work and their

          5  advocacy for the democratization and openness for

          6  the concession process. The situation that happened

          7  there, which we have discussed at length, it's been

          8  the undercurrent of a lot of the things that were

          9  talked about today, was, their advocacy was

         10  extraordinary, and I just wanted to publicly

         11  recognize that and thank them for that and, of

         12  course, you know, we've heard a lot today and we'll

         13  be instructed by that experience as we go forward.

         14                 So, thank you, Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. We can

         16  start any way. Okay, you're right there, you can

         17  start.

         18                 MR. PAPUSH: Right. Good day. My name

         19  is Gary Papush. I'm representing Manhattan Community

         20  Board 6. I am also one of five originators of a

         21  group called the 250 Plus Friends of New York City

         22  parks.

         23                 Community Board 6 became strongly

         24  involved in these issues more than a year ago when a

         25  successful local vendor lost their concession

                                                            154

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  renewal. When we inquired of the Parks Department,

          3  how they made this decision, they proudly presented

          4  us with their book of rules on awarding of

          5  concessions, with a statement that a review of their

          6  rules would show that they acted properly.

          7                 My review of their rules, however,

          8  showed exactly the opposite. The rules allow for

          9  non-transparency, lack of consistency, and in some

         10  cases, just plain violation.

         11                 Even Comptroller Thompson, in

         12  reviewing the same award, came up with the same

         13  findings and I believe to date has still refused to

         14  certify the contract.

         15                 A Parks Department official at a

         16  public meeting admitted that proposed concessions

         17  are crafted in such a way as to avoid being defined

         18  as a major concession, and therefore, requiring more

         19  public scrutiny. Leases are definitely not offered

         20  in order to avoid ULURP and alienation requirements.

         21                 In June 2006, Board 6 adopted the

         22  resolution attached to my statement, recommending

         23  either changes in the rules or at least requiring

         24  for the public review. We also called for the

         25  oversight hearing being conducted today.
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          2                 When copies of our resolution were

          3  circulated to all community boards in New York City,

          4  we received unprecedented responses with similar

          5  complaints and more stories from throughout the five

          6  boroughs.

          7                 This resulted in people from three

          8  different boroughs gathered together and originating

          9  what are now the 250 plus friends.

         10                 We urge the Council members to review

         11  the recommendations in our June 2006 resolution and

         12  consider adopting them. We would also urge further

         13  oversight hearings and other practices of the Parks

         14  Department, as concessions are, just as they say,

         15  the tip of the iceberg.

         16                 Many practices of this agency usurp

         17  your own legislative functions. Community Board 6

         18  also announces that prior to a further resolution by

         19  us on the issue of alienation in public park land,

         20  and privatization of public park land, we will be

         21  holding a public hearing on Tuesday, November 6th,

         22  and all are welcome. I have flyers available.

         23                 Amongst the recommendations in our

         24  June 2006 resolution is that a proposer has to list

         25  all other partners, shareholders and financial
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          2  backers at time of submission. If any proposer is

          3  given leave to amend their proposal, or give the

          4  agency additional information, the same should be

          5  allowed to all proposers. Requests under Freedom of

          6  Information should be responded to as timely as

          7  possible. The franchise and concession review

          8  committee shall hold a public hearing, even if it's

          9  a minor concession upon a majority vote of the

         10  affected community board, or a written request from

         11  the City Council member representing that district

         12  and we would strengthen the Comptroller, or broaden

         13  the Comptroller's ability to object to registration.

         14  Right now it's only in cases of findings of fraud.

         15  We would expand it to cases of possible unfairness,

         16  favoritism or impropriety.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18                 MR. ROZANKOWSKI: Good afternoon. I'm

         19  John Rozankowski from Friends of Poe Park.

         20  Alienation of City parkland is one of the most

         21  important issues facing New York City today. Now,

         22  there are those who proclaim that alienation is

         23  difficult. Is it?

         24                 On June 15, 2005, the Yankee Stadium

         25  Project was announced. A month and five days later
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          2  the citizens of Highbridge lost their park and

          3  didn't even know about it.

          4                 Alienation is not difficult. If a

          5  developer has political clout and connections, and

          6  the victims are working class people of New York

          7  City.

          8                 With the Yankee Stadium as a

          9  precedent, this atrocity will take place again. What

         10  is to be done? The answer is not to despair, the

         11  answer is not to say what can we do, but it's to

         12  demand action and action now in the form of strict

         13  legislation, which bans projects that fundamentally

         14  change the nature of a park and are severely

         15  detrimental to the natural habitat.

         16                 Legislation which guarantees that all

         17  projects are open to everyone, and legislation which

         18  mandates a secure posting in a prominent location of

         19  the affected park of any potential project before,

         20  some six months before, a done deal is announced.

         21                 Ladies and gentlemen of the City

         22  Council, you are in the position to solve this

         23  problem. Solve it by strict legislation. And you are

         24  not alone. All over this City, people are coming

         25  together under the banners of New Yorkers for Parks
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          2  and the Friends of New York City Parks Coalition.

          3  They are rising above this anarchism of community

          4  and realizing all of us are citizens of New York

          5  City, and if we work together, we will preserve our

          6  parks.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 MR. PHLOUKUMAR: Good afternoon,

          9  everyone. I am Kandasamy Phloukumar, known as the

         10  dosa man from Washington Square Park. I would like

         11  to thank the Parks Department for being here and

         12  helping to make my American dream, owning my own

         13  business. When I went to the Parks Department with

         14  my different idea, they helped me out, told me all

         15  the rules, regulations involved to get the vendor's

         16  bid for the spot. I chose Washington Square Park

         17  because of the very diverse community, and it's

         18  right in the center of the village.

         19                 I was extremely happy of the response

         20  from the community, and the Parks Department. The

         21  people love healthy food and the Parks Department

         22  help my business grow. I'm very happy to have won

         23  the bid for this spot the second time. I am very

         24  thankful that my food keeping a small section of New

         25  York healthy.
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          2                 I hope to continuing serving great

          3  food to the public and know the Parks Department

          4  continue to help me to do so.

          5                 Thank you so much once again.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          7                 MR. O'NEAL: My name is Michael

          8  O'Neal. I and my family have the West 79th Street

          9  Boat Basin Cafe and the Ballfield Cafe --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Hold on just a

         11  minute.

         12                 Jerry, can you whisper?

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MR. O'NEAL: And the Ballfield Cafe at

         15  Central Park and we're concessionaires. And we've

         16  been there for about nine years. I was asked to come

         17  by Commissioner Castro just to say some nice things

         18  about concessionaires. Because it's been mostly

         19  people in the park -- I happen to belong to

         20  Riverside Park Fund, and we support Riverside Park

         21  really a lot. They're the, I guess like the

         22  Conservancy for Riverside Park, even though the name

         23  is different.

         24                 When I took over the West 79th Street

         25  Boat Basin Cafe, there were 40 homeless people
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          2  living there. I don't know whether you're familiar

          3  with the area, but it's a large rotunda underneath

          4  the highway at the 79th Street get-off. And there

          5  were 43 or 44 homeless people living there, and

          6  Parks Department had a lot of trouble. The first

          7  year, I think I hired a few just to keep them out of

          8  trouble. But the point of it is, the place is now a

          9  spot where people come to watch the sunset, have a

         10  beer, eat a hamburger. I'm sorry, I don't have Vegan

         11  food. I have a grandson who is a Vegan, but that's

         12  about as far as I go.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That's as good as

         14  it gets, huh?

         15                 MR. O'NEAL: The point of it is, we

         16  improved the area I think a great deal. I'm very

         17  active in the community, and I think I'd like to

         18  have one more year on my concession, so I may be

         19  back here saying what are you taking it away from me

         20  for.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right. But for

         22  now they're okay.

         23                 MR. O'NEAL: Right now I'm okay. Well,

         24  thank you very much.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Are the
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          2  homeless still working for you?

          3                 MR. O'NEAL: I'm sorry? No, I think

          4  they disappeared. You know, maybe they found homes.

          5  I don't know.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Our last panel, Elizabeth Lorris

          9  Ritter, Cesar Fuentes, and Esperanza Ochoa.

         10                 Thank you. You can pull the mic.

         11                 MR. FUENTES: Hello, everyone.

         12  Honorable Council members, Parks Department

         13  officials. My name is Cesar Fuentes, and I am the

         14  Executive Director of the Food Vendors Committee

         15  over at Hook Park, Inc., also known as the Red Hook

         16  Food Vendors, a group of artists and cooks, that

         17  have been operating in Red Hook for about 30 years.

         18                 Some of you may already know, this

         19  year has been marked by changes in our humble affair

         20  - some good, some not so good. The Red Hook Food

         21  Vendors have reached national acclaim for their

         22  fresh and delicious foods, and for the unique

         23  character of the operation. The mix of a rustic food

         24  market, a soccer field and a beautiful landscape,

         25  surrounded by trees, grass, parkland, and the
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          2  historic Brooklyn waterfront.

          3                 On the other hand, and ironically,

          4  the possibility is this may be our last season. Due

          5  to forces of change, forces unknown to us, that may

          6  threaten to change it permanently.

          7                 But today I just want to come here

          8  and tell you a story, the story of one of our

          9  members who is here with us, Mrs. Esperanza Ochoa.

         10                 Mrs. Esperanza Ochoa has been

         11  preparing delicious Guatamalin food, meals in the

         12  Red Hook Park for over 24 years. Working as a house

         13  maid in New Jersey, Mrs. Ochoa had a dream of some

         14  day owning her own house. Knowing her low wages will

         15  prevent making this dream a reality, Mrs. Ochoa

         16  placed the faith in the traditional homestyle

         17  cooking she learned from her family and hoped to

         18  start her own business, a restaurant. However, this

         19  would involve a costly investment that Mrs. Ochoa

         20  could not afford.

         21                 Almost giving up on her dream, a

         22  friend invited Mrs. Ochoa to a soccer field located

         23  in a remote location, a little piece of parkland in

         24  Red Hook's industrial waterfront. There she found an

         25  opportunity in the soccer players, their fans, their
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          2  families, park-goers, with a couple of hundred

          3  dollars to invest and a dream revived, Mrs. Ochoa

          4  began serving delicious foods and beverages to the

          5  hungry and thirsty crowds. She left her work as a

          6  house maid and with the help of her family, set up a

          7  temporary food vending establishment in Red Hook,

          8  becoming a full-time food vendor.

          9                 In a few years and thanks to her

         10  business, Mrs. Ochoa found herself buying the house

         11  of her dreams in Sunset Park Brooklyn.

         12                 As she ran her weekend business, Mrs.

         13  Ochoa also found an opportunity to bond with her

         14  loved ones, her grandchildren. Mrs. Ochoa's beloved

         15  granddaughter, Esmeralda, would help her grandma

         16  sell food and translate for her when

         17  English-speaking customers arrived. Esmeralda also

         18  loved playing with other children in the park, but

         19  above all, she preferred spending time with Mrs.

         20  Ochoa and her stand, where she could teach her

         21  grandma a few words in English, and in return enjoy

         22  some stories of old times, to sell some candy and to

         23  eat some too as a reward. Sadly, Esmeralda died of

         24  cancer at age 13 four years ago.

         25                 Mrs. Ochoa was destroyed emotionally
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          2  and almost gave up on her food stall. The pain in

          3  her heart, strong and still present with memories of

          4  Esmeralda come about. Yet, that same memory of her

          5  grandmother -- her granddaughter enjoying summer

          6  weekends in Red Hook Park and helping sell food and

          7  candies has made Mrs. Ochoa continue.

          8                 Having achieved her dreams of owning

          9  a house, Mrs. Ochoa's reasons to continue operating

         10  her food stall in the park, is more emotional than

         11  financial. The attachment that 24 years of hard work

         12  and the memories that come with it is deeply rooted

         13  like the trees that grow in Red Hook Park.

         14                 Just like Mrs. Ochoa, every one of

         15  the 13 members of the Food Vendors Committee of Red

         16  Hook Park have a story to tell and strong emotional

         17  and financial reasons to substantiate the right to

         18  continue this humble tradition that dates back 30

         19  years.

         20                 For the Red Hook food vendors, this

         21  little piece of parkland has meant an accomplishment

         22  of many dreams, the American dream. The opportunity

         23  provided by the New York City Parks Department,

         24  where individuals who couldn't otherwise afford to

         25  start their own business were given a chance, a
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          2  stepping stone and opportunity to achieve their

          3  dreams. In a place and a time where it is

          4  increasingly difficult to keep up with the cost of

          5  living, much less afford to accomplish the American

          6  dream, it's important to advocate and to preserve

          7  those opportunities that provide a chance, a

          8  stepping stone to build success.

          9                 New York Council members, and Parks

         10  Department officials, today I advocate not just on

         11  behalf of food vendors, but also for all New York

         12  City entrepreneurs, who believe in a dream but

         13  cannot achieve it. And also for all New Yorkers who

         14  patronize and benefit from such affairs, to ask for

         15  your assistance in preserving parks concessions and

         16  public markets, to consider the example set by a

         17  humble group of 13 food vendors who shared the

         18  dream, were given a chance to fulfill it, and were

         19  able, even if only for one season, to achieve

         20  success.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         23                 MS. LORRIS RITTER: Good afternoon. I

         24  had written good morning. My name is Elizabeth

         25  Lorris Ritter. I am the Chair of the Parks Committee
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          2  of Community Board 12. I have been a member of

          3  Community Board 12 for about ten years, and I have

          4  been active with the Parks Committee of Community

          5  Board 12 as a public member since 1995. So, my track

          6  record is a little longer than Joe Torri, and I'm

          7  not going anyplace.

          8                 There is not -- you have my written

          9  comments, so I'm not going to read them, I'll just

         10  highlight some, based on what I've been hearing this

         11  afternoon.

         12                 We review routinely lists of

         13  concessions, carts, Christmas Tree sale spots, RFPs,

         14  all manner of leases, concessions and other

         15  potential contract opportunities let by the Parks

         16  Department, within Community Board 12. There is not

         17  a single cart, Christmas tree vendor, concession,

         18  lessee, operating in Community Board 12 that we do

         19  not know about.

         20                 I have to tell you that for over a

         21  decade, keep in mind, for those of you who are not

         22  familiar with Community Board 12, we are 40 percent

         23  parks land. We've got more parks than anybody else,

         24  and in over a decade, there isn't anything going on

         25  by way of concessions that the Community Board
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          2  didn't know about. So, while I absolutely get that

          3  perhaps there are boards who have not had the kind

          4  of experience that we've had in terms of an

          5  incredible respectful partnership between the

          6  community and the Parks Department, that's been our

          7  experience.

          8                 And I'm really sorry that Council

          9  Member Garodnick isn't here to hear that, and I'm

         10  begging you to make sure that he gets a copy of my

         11  written testimony, which covers that.

         12                 I want to talk a little bit about our

         13  recent experience with the Dyckman Maria and Cafe

         14  concession.

         15                 That was really a disaster. The

         16  concessionaire at that location was pretty

         17  consistently not making good on multiple promises

         18  pursuant to their contract, and every time they got

         19  a notice to cure, with about 14 seconds left to go

         20  before the Parks Department's Revenue Division

         21  pulled the plug on the contract, which was their

         22  right, boom, they would cure the condition, and then

         23  go back to square one of basically ripping the City

         24  off and providing bad service. It wasn't until they

         25  were actually shut down by the Police Department for
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          2  illegal activity that that contract finally was

          3  terminated.

          4                 So, you can imagine that there was

          5  really tremendous, tremendous community outpouring

          6  of concern about that contracting process.

          7                 We flipped out when we did not have

          8  the opportunity to review the full RFP which was a

          9  change in the process, and when we had a public

         10  hearing, which we were not required to do, but we

         11  recognized as the reasonable moral imperative, we

         12  got a tremendous amount of public feedback and we

         13  wrote a very detailed four-page letter to the Parks

         14  Department with all of our recommendations, five

         15  paragraphs of general philosophical things, 17

         16  individual items that we wanted included in the

         17  RFPs, blah blah blah blah blah. If you read the RFP,

         18  you will see that letter directly quoted. Our letter

         19  so thoroughly informed what the Parks Department

         20  did, they also went a step further, they reached out

         21  to Marla Simpson and arranged for her and for the

         22  Parks Department Revenue Committee to come and work

         23  with the Community Board to make sure that our

         24  concerns were addressed, and that there was solid

         25  two-way communication.
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          2                 That contract hasn't yet been let,

          3  hasn't yet been announced. They're still working on

          4  the applications. There is more information in my

          5  testimony, but in closing, I just wanted to say that

          6  the Department of Parks and Recreation has

          7  repeatedly shown, and Community Board 12 has shown

          8  itself to be responsible and creative stewards of

          9  the public trust with regard to their administration

         10  of public lands and I thank them for it, and I thank

         11  you for listening.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         13  much. And I think we want to get to the point where

         14  all community boards are like you, and I don't think

         15  we're there yet.

         16                 MS. LORRIS RITTER: Well, I am totally

         17  serious, tell them to call me. I am happy to work

         18  with any and every parks chair. I'm totally serious.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That's good to

         20  hear.

         21                 MS. LORRIS RITTER: My e-mails and my

         22  phone numbers are on my testimony, and I will be

         23  disappointed if I don't get at least a couple of

         24  calls. I'm totally serious. I'm not that nice a

         25  person, I don't make offers I don't mean.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.

          3                 MS. LORRIS RITTER: I want to hear

          4  from people who want to know how to --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How to get it

          6  done.

          7                 MS. LORRIS RITTER: -- Work with

          8  concessions better.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Fuentes, what

         10  is the status of the Red Hook vendors now?

         11                 MR. FUENTES: Well, as of now the RFP

         12  has not yet officially been put out, so as a result

         13  we don't know what the requirements are going to be.

         14  What we're hoping is obviously to be able to apply

         15  for it as soon as possible, to be ourselves as a

         16  public market. And I'm not sure to a certain extent

         17  if the concession regulations will apply to our

         18  fair, but we're hoping.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And it's a

         20  consortium of 13 vendors you said?

         21                 MR. FUENTES: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         23                 MR. FUENTES: And we're hoping to work

         24  also with the farmers markets, as well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And include, so
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          2  that it will almost be business as usual, but under

          3  a concession contract.

          4                 MR. FUENTES: Yes. I think that is

          5  what the RFP will pretty much ask for, so we can

          6  have business as usual.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Will you have

          8  someone working with you to help you fill out the

          9  RFP, or do you have members --

         10                 MR. FUENTES: We're working with the

         11  Brooklyn South, Southwest Brooklyn --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, just as

         13  long as you have someone.

         14                 MR. FUENTES: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And I extend my

         16  sympathy on the death of your granddaughter. I'm

         17  sorry to hear that.

         18                 MS. LORRIS RITTER: May I just throw

         19  one small thing out? One of the things that the

         20  Parks Department did that was really great is, in

         21  Inwood Park, where there is a lot of soccer playing,

         22  we had a number of illegal food vendors selling the

         23  best, cheapest food I've ever had at a soccer game,

         24  and we worked hard with the Parks Department to get

         25  those folks licensed, and to be able to grant

                                                            172

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  permits for them to come up and sell.

          3                 So, if something happens down in Red

          4  Hook and you can't sell your food there, come on up

          5  to Inwood, we'll take it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          7                 There being no one left to testify,

          8  and it being 12 minutes after one, thank you very

          9  much for staying.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 1:12 p.m.)
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